Georgia State University ScholarWorks @ Georgia State University

Public Health Dissertations

School of Public Health

Spring 5-14-2021

Examining the Relationship between Perceived Neighborhood Context on Sexual Risk Behaviors among Black Men who Have Sex with Men in the South

Terrika Barham

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.gsu.edu/sph_diss

Recommended Citation

Barham, Terrika, "Examining the Relationship between Perceived Neighborhood Context on Sexual Risk Behaviors among Black Men who Have Sex with Men in the South." Dissertation, Georgia State University, 2021.

doi: https://doi.org/10.57709/22643955

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the School of Public Health at ScholarWorks @ Georgia State University. It has been accepted for inclusion in Public Health Dissertations by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks @ Georgia State University. For more information, please contact scholarworks@gsu.edu.

ABSTRACT

EXAMINING THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN PERCEIVED NEIGHBORHOOD CONTEXT ON SEXUAL RISK BEHAVIORS AMONG BLACK MEN WHO HAVE SEX WITH MEN IN THE SOUTH

By

TERRIKA LASHAUN BARHAM

APRIL 2021

Background: The burden of HIV in the South remains disproportionate among Black MSM, who account for 48% of HIV diagnoses among MSM. Reasons for these disparities include higher-level structural and social factors, as well as psychosocial factors, that influence individual sexual risk behaviors, including neighborhood conditions, discrimination, depression, resilience, and religiosity/spirituality. The purpose of this dissertation is to examine the relationship between perceived neighborhood context and sexual risk behaviors among Black MSM in the South.

Methods: The dissertation utilized data from the MARI study, which included 412 Black MSM from Jackson, MS and Atlanta, GA. The theoretical framework was based on the modified social ecological model. Statistical methods include exploratory factor analysis, bivariate and multivariable logistic regression, and simple mediation and parallel multiple mediation analyses.

Results: A 4-factor solution was identified in the exploratory factor analysis, which translated to 4 domains measuring the latent construct, perceived neighborhood context: neighborhood problems, social cohesion and safety, neighborhood violence, and LGBT-friendliness. In the multivariable logistic regression analyses, social cohesion and safety was significantly associated with consistent condom use during anal sex in the past 12 months with both a main and a casual partner, consistent condom use friendliness was significantly associated with consistent condom use during vaginal sex in the past 12 months, and using alcohol or drugs before or during sex. LGBT-friendliness was significantly associated with consistent condom use during anal sex in the past 12 months.

months with a casual partner, and asking the last casual sex partner's HIV status prior to sex.

Neighborhood violence was significantly associated with exchanging sex for money. In both the simple mediation and parallel multiple mediation analyses, depression significantly mediated the relationship between 2 domains of perceived neighborhood context (i.e., social cohesion and safety, and LGBT-friendliness), and consistent condom use during anal sex in the past 12 months with a casual partner. **Conclusions:** Salient domains of perceived neighborhood context may be determinants of sexual risk behaviors through depression. Structural interventions are needed to improve neighborhood infrastructure to increase social cohesion and safety, reduce violence, provide an LGBT-friendly environment, and include mental health resources to reduce HIV burden among Black MSM in the South.

EXAMINING THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN PERCEIVED NEIGHBORHOOD CONTEXT ON SEXUAL RISK BEHAVIORS AMONG BLACK MEN WHO HAVE SEX WITH MEN IN THE SOUTH

by

TERRIKA LASHAUN BARHAM

BACHELOR OF ARTS IN PSYCHOLOGY EMORY UNIVERSITY, 2005

MASTER OF PUBLIC HEALTH IN BEHAVIORAL SCIENCES EMORY UNIVERSITY, 2009

A Dissertation Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of Georgia State University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY IN PUBLIC HEALTH

ATLANTA, GEORGIA 30303

APPROVAL PAGE

EXAMINING THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN PERCEIVED NEIGHBORHOOD CONTEXT ON SEXUAL RISK BEHAVIORS AMONG BLACK MEN WHO HAVE SEX WITH MEN IN THE SOUTH

by

TERRIKA LASHAUN BARHAM

Approved by:

Laura F. Salazar, PhD Committee Chair

Richard Rothenberg, MD, MPH Committee Member

Madeline Sutton, MD, MPH Committee Member

Defense Date: April 16, 2021

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am grateful to be able to type my acknowledgements, as this means that I have now completed my dissertation and I have finally earned the highest degree in my field, and my last degree ever in life. But this great achievement would not have been possible without many people who have supported and encouraged me over the years. Firstly, I thank God, from whom all blessings flow. To my dissertation committee—my chair, Dr. Laura Salazar, and my committee members, Dr. Richard Rothenberg and Dr. Madeline Sutton, and my scientific consultant, Dr. Wayne Johnson---thank you for your guidance and feedback over these last few years. I also thank the MARI study participants, and the PI, Dr. DeMarc Hickson for allowing me to use the data, as well as Ms. Zaneta Gaul for her assistance with the MARI dataset. Lastly, I thank all of my CDC colleagues, GSU cohort, public health peers, family and friends, and my entire village for their encouragement, patience, and love.

I dedicate my dissertation and degree to my mother, Anita Michelle Barham. It has been 18 years since she has passed, but not too long before she passed, she told me she had dreams of earning a PhD, but life prevented that from happening. Because of her dream and by getting to this point in my journey, I honor her with the saying, "What the trunk didn't do, may the branches do…"

AUTHOR'S STATEMENT PAGE

In presenting this dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Georgia State University, I agree that the Library of the University shall make it available for inspection and circulation in accordance with its regulations governing materials of this type. I agree that permission to quote from, to copy from, or to publish this dissertation may be granted by the author or, in his/her absence, by the professor under whose direction it was written, or in his/her absence, by the Associate Dean, School of Public Health. Such quoting, copying, or publishing must be solely for scholarly purposes and will not involve potential financial gain. It is understood that any copying from or publication of this dissertation which involves potential financial gain will not be allowed without written permission of the author.

<u>Terrika Lashaun Barham</u> Signature of Author

ABSTRACT	1
APPROVAL PAGE	4
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	5
AUTHOR'S STATEMENT PAGE	6
List of Tables	9
List of Figures	
Chapter 1: Introduction	
HIV among Black Men who have Sex with Men	
HIV in the South	
Factors attributing to the HIV Burden among Black MSM	
Neighborhood Context and HIV Risk	
Research Gaps	
Purpose	16
Chapter 2: Review of the Literature	
Neighborhood Context	
Potential Mediators	21
Theoretical Framework: Modified Social Ecological Model	
Chapter 3: Methods	
Data Source	27
Relevant Study Measures	
Predictors:	
Potential mediators:	
Outcomes:	
Statistical Analysis	
Chapter 4: Results	
Study Participants	
Exploratory Factor Analysis Results	40
Bivariate and Multivariable Regression Analysis	46
Simple Mediation Analyses and Parallel Multiple Mediation Analyses	
Chapter 5: Discussion	
Findings from First Research Question	
Findings from Second Research Question	
Findings from Third Research Question	60

Table of Contents

Limitations	
Implications and Conclusions	64
Pafarancas	66
References	

List of Tables

Table 1: Item Descriptions and Scales for Perceived Neighborhood Context
Table 2: Selected Demographic and Socioeconomic Characteristics, and Sexual Behaviors among BlackMSM, 2013-2014 (n=412)
Table 3: Item Correlations
Table 4: Eigenvalues of Reduced Correlation Matrix for 4 Factors
Table 5: Factor Loadings and Component Communalities for Items Assessing Perceived Neighborhood Context. .44
Table 6: Descriptive Statistics, Intercorrelations, and Cronbach's Alpha for Factor-Based Scales46
Table 7: Bivariate and Multivariable Logistic Regression Analysis of the Associations betweenDomains Assessing Perceived Neighborhood Context and Sexual Risk Behaviors among Black MSM inthe South (n=412)
Table 8: Simple Mediation Effects and Parallel Multiple Mediation Effects of Psychosocial Mediatorson the Relationship between Social Cohesion & Safety and Consistent Condom Use during Anal Sex inPast 12 Months with Casual Partner
Table 9: Simple Mediation Effects and Parallel Multiple Mediation Effects of Psychosocial Mediatorson the Relationship between LGBT-Friendliness and Consistent Condom Use during Anal Sex in Past12 Months with Casual Partner

List of Figures

Figure 1: Conceptual Diagrams of Simple Mediation Models
Figure 2: Conceptual Diagram of Parallel Multiple Mediation Model
Figure 3: Scree Test for Factor Retention
Figure 4: Parallel Analysis for Factor Retention
Figure 5: Statistical Diagrams of Simple Mediation Effects of Psychosocial Mediators on the Relationship between Social Cohesion & Safety and Consistent Condom Use during Anal Sex in Past 12 Months with Casual Partner
Figure 6: Statistical Diagram of Parallel Multiple Mediation Effects of Psychosocial Mediators on the Relationship between Social Cohesion & Safety and Consistent Condom Use during Anal Sex in Past 12 Months with Casual Partner
Figure 7: Statistical Diagrams of Simple Mediation Effects of Psychosocial Mediators on the Relationship between LGBT-Friendliness and Consistent Condom Use during Anal Sex in Past 12 Months with Casual Partner
Figure 8: Statistical Diagram of Parallel Multiple Mediation Effects of Psychosocial Mediators on the Relationship between LGBT-Friendliness and Consistent Condom Use during Anal Sex in Past 12 Months with Casual Partner

Chapter 1: Introduction

HIV among Black Men who have Sex with Men

Gay and bisexual men (hereafter referred to as men who have sex with men (MSM)) bear the greatest burden of Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) in the United States (US), despite recent advancements in treatment and resources.¹ From 2008 to 2015, the estimated annual HIV incidence in the US decreased by 14.8% overall, and decreased for each transmission risk group, except for MSM.^{2, 3} Although HIV incidence remained relatively stable among MSM, at approximately 26,000 infections per year from 2008 to 2015, HIV incidence was disproportionately higher among MSM compared to other transmission risk groups.^{2, 3} In 2016, MSM accounted for 67% of all 40,324 HIV diagnoses, and 68% of new HIV infections in the US.^{1, 3, 4} The proportion of new HIV diagnoses remained high among MSM, who accounted for 69% of all 37,968 new HIV diagnoses in 2018. ⁵

Black/African-American MSM (hereafter referred to as Black MSM) are disproportionately affected by HIV, and are the current face of the HIV burden in the US. In 2018, Black MSM accounted for the highest number of MSM who received an HIV diagnosis (37%; n=9,712), compared to other racial/ethnic groups.^{1, 3, 4} Although the estimated HIV incidence has remained stable for Black MSM from 2008 to 2015, HIV incidence remained higher for Black MSM compared to White and Hispanic/Latino MSM within this time period. ^{1, 3, 4} These differences by race/ethnicity were especially observed among young MSM ages 13 to 24, as Black MSM made up 52% of HIV diagnoses among young MSM in 2018, compared to 27% Hispanic/Latino MSM and 16% White MSM.^{1, 3, 4, 5} If current trends in HIV among Black MSM persist, 1 in 2 Black MSM will be diagnosed with HIV in their lifetime.^{3, 6}

HIV in the South

The South currently experiences the greatest burden of HIV. In 2017, the South (i.e., Alabama, Arkansas, Delaware, District of Columbia, Florida, Georgia, Kentucky, Louisiana, Maryland, Mississippi, North Carolina, Oklahoma, South Carolina, Tennessee, Texas, Virginia and West Virginia) consisted of 38% of the U.S. population, but accounted for more than half (51%) of new HIV infections, 45% of persons with HIV, and 50% of undiagnosed HIV infections. ¹ The South continued to account for more than half (51%) of the 37,968 new HIV diagnoses in 2018. ⁵ Additionally, the rates (per 100,000) of HIV diagnoses were highest in the South at 16.1, compared to 10.6 in the Northeast, 9.4 in the West and 7.4 in the Midwest.¹ Lifetime risk of an HIV diagnosis was also highest in Southern states, including Georgia (1 in 57), Maryland (1 in 56), and Florida (1 in 58). ⁶

In line with national statistics, the burden of HIV in the South is disproportionate by race/ethnicity and by risk group. Whereas Black/African Americans account for 53% of new HIV diagnoses in the South, Black MSM in the South account for 6 out of every 10 new HIV diagnoses among all Black/African Americans in this region.¹ Additionally, 48% of HIV diagnoses in the South were among Black MSM, compared to 26% Hispanic/Latino MSM and 23% White MSM. ^{1,4,5} From 2008 to 2014, the proportion of new HIV diagnoses increased only among Black MSM in the South, compared to MSM of other races/ethnicities.⁷ Among Black MSM, 1 in 4 and 1 in 5 were diagnosed with HIV in Mississippi and Georgia, respectively, and nearly 60% of new HIV diagnoses were among Black MSM in each state. ⁸⁻¹⁰

Disparities in rates among Black MSM in the South continue to persist. As the new national initiative "Ending the HIV Epidemic: A Plan for America" seeks to reduce new HIV infections in the US by at least 90% in 10 years, there is a critical need to examine and address the factors associated with HIV in order to eliminate disparities in HIV, especially among Black MSM in the South. ^{4, 11}

Factors attributing to the HIV Burden among Black MSM

Prevention efforts aimed at reducing HIV risk among Black MSM have primarily targeted individual-level factors including condomless anal sex, having multiple sex partners, exchanging sex for goods and services, using alcohol and illicit substances (e.g., marijuana, cocaine, methamphetamines), or having a sexually transmitted infection (STI).^{12-15 13, 16, 17 14, 15, 18} However, individual sex or drug risk behaviors may not solely explain the high and disparate burden of HIV among Black MSM. Compared to White MSM, Black MSM were found as likely to engage in serodiscordant condomless anal sex, receptive condomless anal sex, sex with a partner with known HIV serostatus, and sex for goods and services, and less likely to have a history of substance use or have more sex partners. ^{18, 19} Thus, recent studies have focused on addressing higher-level factors that influence individual behaviors in order to reduce HIV risk among Black MSM. These studies often utilize the modified social ecological model as a framework, which supports reviewing social and structural factors in order to adequately address behaviors that are associated with acquiring or transmitting HIV at the individual level. ²⁰ Higher-level factors that influence HIV risk at the individual level among Black MSM include social and sexual networks characteristics (e.g., homophily), community norms and values (e.g., homophobia), and laws and policies (e.g., criminalization of homosexuality). ²¹⁻³⁰

Neighborhood Context and HIV Risk

Neighborhood context is another higher-level factor that influences HIV risk. Several neighborhood characteristics have been identified as influencers of HIV risk among MSM, including HIV prevention behaviors and care outcomes. For example, the physical structure of the neighborhood, which include the geographic layout and physical appearance of streets and buildings, may impede access to HIV prevention and care services (e.g., HIV clinics, pharmacies, or HIV service organizations). ³¹⁻³⁹ Distance to healthcare facilities, as well as accessing public transportation to access

healthcare facilities create barriers to care and affect HIV-related outcomes, such as late HIV testing, ART non-adherence, low CD4 count, low maintenance of viral suppression, and HIV mortality. ^{31, 33-40} Aspects of the neighborhood physical environment, such as having access to public transportation are shaped by neighborhood economic conditions (e.g., neighborhood-level poverty and income inequality), and racism-related policies (e.g., redlining) that facilitate segregation, and hinder access to quality healthcare and additional resources (e.g. housing, employment). These structural issues can further influence HIV risk through dimensions of the neighborhood social environment, including social cohesion (e.g., being a close knit neighborhood, having trust in neighbors, and getting along with one another). ^{38, 41, 42} For example, areas with high concentrations of residential racial segregation, poverty, and income inequality can result in social disorganization, in which social cohesion is weakened and the ability to enforce social norms within the community are reduced. ^{38, 41, 42} This disruption can result in increased crime and violence, and lead individuals to engage in maladaptive behaviors, such as engaging in substance use and/or risky sexual behaviors to cope with exposure to the negative environment. ^{38, 41-} ⁴⁴ Additionally, the neighborhood may not be a supportive environment for the lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender (LGBT) community, and may facilitate homophobic social norms. ^{38, 41, 42, 45} As social norms can influence an individual's behaviors, negative social norms and overall social environment may also result in engagement in maladaptive behaviors as a coping mechanism. ^{38, 41, 42, 45} Lastly, individuals living in these neighborhoods are more likely to partner with others who have HIV or are at risk for HIV infection due to residing in areas that are concentrated with high poverty, low access to resources, and living within close proximity to others within the same sexual networks, further affecting the HIV burden. 46-48

Research Gaps

Although there is substantial evidence to support the effect of neighborhood context on HIV prevention and care behaviors among MSM, neighborhood context has various operationalizations in the literature, and may include variables related to physical or social characteristics of the neighborhood (e.g., physical disorder, social disorganization, social norms)^{38, 41, 49-52}. Few studies have been conducted to determine if variables measuring physical characteristics (e.g., neighborhood violence and crime) or social characteristics (e.g., social cohesion, LGBT-friendliness) are consistent with the construct of neighborhood context as a driver of HIV risk among MSM. ^{42, 45} In addition, few studies have explored the relationship between neighborhood context and HIV risk among Black MSM, especially among Black MSM in the South, despite research suggesting various individual, social, and structural factors that contribute to the racial and ethnic disparities in HIV among Black MSM.^{15, 18, 38, 42} Also, studies that have explored the association of neighborhood context on HIV risk have primarily focused on Black MSM residing in other U.S. regions, such as cities in the Northeast or West, and these findings may not be generalizable to Black MSM in other regions, especially Black MSM in the South. ^{42, 45, 51, 53} The lack of generalizability may be due to regional differences in structural, political, and social factors that affect health. For this reason, there may be additional factors that may better explain the relationship between neighborhood context and HIV risk among Black MSM in the South. As racism is prevalent in the South and continues to drive racial and ethnic disparities in HIV prevalence and risk behaviors, experiences of racial discrimination can affect individual HIV risk and prevention behaviors, as well as mental health outcomes (e.g., depression) among Black MSM in the South.^{2, 11, 13, 53-60} Stigmatizing attitudes against sexual minorities and those with HIV are also more prevalent in the South, and experiences of these stigmatizing attitudes and discrimination can affect access to healthcare and additional resources (e.g., employment, housing).^{2, 55, 58, 61-73} Also, the South is commonly referred as the "Bible Belt," due to its socially conservative and evangelical Protestantism within the region, and the Black/African American community in the South value religious beliefs and spiritual practices. ^{3, 74-80} Yet, anti-gay sentiments are espoused by Southern religious institutions, especially within Black/African American churches. ^{3, 74-80} As such, religiosity and spirituality can influence the attitudes and behaviors of Black MSM residing in Southern neighborhoods, including internalized homophobia and engaging in condomless anal sex to cope with negative feelings and heighten intimacy. ^{3, 74-80} However, Black MSM's resilience in being able to cope with negative neighborhood factors may be protective against HIV risk. ^{13, 38, 81-84} Exploring these potential factors that may influence the relationship between neighborhood context and HIV sexual risk can be important in addressing the burden of HIV among Black MSM in the South. ^{13, 38, 81-84}

Purpose

The purpose of this dissertation was to examine the relationship between perceived neighborhood context and sexual risk behaviors among Black MSM in the South. The dissertation utilized data from The Ecological Study of Sexual Behavior and HIV/STI among African American men who have sex with men in the Southeastern US (known as the MARI study). The theoretical framework for this dissertation was based on the modified social ecological model. ^{20, 85-87} This research can be used to better inform HIV prevention strategies and efforts among this vulnerable population to help reduce disparities in the HIV burden. The dissertation addressed the following research questions:

1) Do the observed variables, physical disorder (e.g., safety, violence, problems), social cohesion, and LGBT-friendliness, hold together as measures of the latent construct, perceived neighborhood context?

Hypothesis: The three observed variables, physical disorder (e.g., safety, violence, problems), social cohesion, and LGBT-friendliness, are measures of the latent construct, perceived neighborhood context.

2) Is there a relationship between perceived neighborhood context and sexual risk behaviors among Black MSM in the South?

Hypothesis: Perceived neighborhood context will be associated with high-risk sexual behaviors among Black MSM in the South, controlling for age, drug use within the past year (e.g., marijuana, cocaine), study site (e.g., Jackson, MS, or Atlanta, GA), STIs within the past year, sexual orientation (e.g., gay/homosexual, bisexual, or straight/heterosexual/questioning/other), HIV status (HIV-negative, HIVpositive), and socioeconomic status (i.e., employment status, education status, annual household income, history of incarceration, and transportation status).

3) Is the relationship between perceived neighborhood context and sexual risk behaviors best understood through discrimination, depression, religiosity/spirituality, and resilience among Black MSM in the South?

Hypothesis: Perceived neighborhood context will be associated with high-risk sexual behaviors among Black MSM in the South through discrimination, depression, religiosity/spirituality, and resilience, controlling for age, drug use, study site, STIs within the past year, sexual orientation, HIV status, and socioeconomic status.

Chapter 2: Review of the Literature

Neighborhood Context

Emerging literature has explored the relationship between neighborhood context and sexual risk behaviors. The pathway between neighborhood context and sexual risk behaviors has primarily been theorized as constructs related to physical characteristics, social characteristics, and social norms of the neighborhood. ^{41, 88-91} Physical disorder theory, also known as the "broken windows" theory, has been used to understand the influence of neighborhood physical characteristics, such as vandalism, vacant houses, or litter, on sexual risk behaviors. ^{41, 88-90} This theory posits that exposure to negative physical characteristics can lead to experiences of personal stress, as well as engaging in alcohol and drug use to cope with stressful events. Exposure to negative neighborhood physical characteristics can also decrease the ability of the neighborhood residents to control social problems, such as crime or drug use within the neighborhood. ^{41, 88-90} Social disorganization theory posits that disruptive effects of urbanization and industrialization alter structural characteristics, including residential mobility, concentrated poverty, and ethnic heterogeneity. ^{41, 88, 89} This disruption results in diminished collective efficacy, as social problems are increased due to weakened neighborhood social cohesion (e.g., lack of trust or belonging within the neighborhood), and a reduction of social norms and controls used to regulate deviant behavior. ^{41, 88, 89} Social norms theory posits that peer norms and behaviors of one's network, such as peer attitudes about condom use, can influence engagement in sex and drug risk behaviors. ^{32, 41, 92} As these theoretical pathways were based on the neighborhood conditions and sexual risk behaviors among heterosexual populations, Frye and colleagues argued that additional factors should be considered in the theoretical pathways of neighborhood urban environment and sexual risk behaviors that are specific to MSM. ⁴¹ For example, socioeconomic status and race/ethnicity can influence neighborhood selection, which can determine whether MSM reside in neighborhoods with varying degrees of homophobia or have a presence of MSM and LGBT-supportive venues.⁴¹ Additionally, social norms associated with identity,

including race/ethnicity and sexual orientation, can determine acceptance or exclusion by the dominant group within the neighborhood, affecting proximal stressors and mental health outcomes such as self-esteem and/or inducing stress-related coping behaviors related to HIV risk (e.g., drug use, multiple sex partners). ⁴¹

Few studies have explored indictors of physical disorder on sexual risk behaviors among MSM. Yet, study findings support the physical disorder theory, and suggest a positive association between physical disorder and sexual risk behaviors. For example, neighborhoods with high physical disorder, such as excessive noise, trash/litter, or large proportions of vacant housing have been associated with high prevalence of HIV and with more drug use before and during sex among Black MSM.^{93,94} Conversely, neighborhoods with lower levels of physical disorder have been considered as protective in engaging in serodiscordant condomless anal sex.⁴² These findings support the theory that exposure to physical disorder may lead to enagegement in drug abuse and risky sexual behaviors as a coping mechanism.^{41,42} Additionally, as physical disorder is correlated with poverty, crime, and low social disorganization, these outcomes may be due to neighborhood destabilization that impedes the presence of necessary HIV prevention and care resources within the neighborhood (e.g., clinics offering HIV testing).^{41,94}

As aforementioned, social disorganization within the neighborhood can result in weakened social cohesion, which can reduce the neighborhood's ability to enforce social norms and controls, and increase social problems, such as drug abuse. ^{41, 42} Many studies have measured social cohesion as an indicator of social disorganization within the neighborhood to determine if connectedness among neighborhood residents and their shared social norms will improve health outcomes and conditions for one another. ^{95, 96} Research suggests that social cohesion is associated with neighborhood physical disorder. For example, residents of neighborhoods with high social cohesion reported greater feelings of perceived safety and lower perceived crime within the neighborhood. ^{40, 97} Findings regarding the

relationship between social cohesion and HIV outcomes are mixed. For example, neighborhoods with high social cohesion were associated with increased HIV testing, and neighborhoods with low social cohesion were associated with increased sexual risk behaviors (e.g., serodiscordant condomless anal sex, and multiple sex partners). ^{42, 98} However, neighborhoods with high social cohesion may espouse negative social norms, such as stigmatizing or discriminatory attitudes about race, sexual orientation, or HIV status, resulting in many residents feeling unsafe and unsupported in the neighborhood. ⁹⁹⁻¹⁰¹ For this reason, Black MSM may socialize and develop sexual partnerships outside of their residential neighborhood, where they may engage in risky sexual behaviors (e.g., condomless anal sex) to cope with the lack of support from their home community, or due to lowered controls of using condoms or having access to condoms in places where sex occurs outside of their neighborhood (e.g., sex venues). ^{50,}

Neighborhoods with a gay community may foster a sense of support, belonging, and acceptance to Black MSM. ¹⁰² Conversely, a lack of gay presence within the neighborhood can be associated with social norms and values that are homophobic, resulting in mental distress, internalized homophobia, and engagement in risky sex or drug behaviors as a coping mechanism. ^{102, 103} As such, most studies exploring social norms of the neighborhood and its influence on sexual risk behaviors among MSM have primarily focused on the neighborhood gay presence (i.e., percentage of households headed by same-sex partners), gay community attachment, and experiences of homophobic discrimination. ^{42, 45, 50} For example, MSM residing in neighborhoods with a large gay presence had greater odds of consistent condom use during anal sex, and MSM residing in neighborhoods with lower levels of gay presence or high levels of homophobia had greater odds of engaging in risky sexual behaviors (e.g., condomless anal sex, multiple partners). ^{42, 45} Yet, these findings are in contrast to findings regarding neighborhood gay presence and sexual risk behaviors among Black MSM, as Black MSM may not reside in neighborhoods with large gay presence or may lack attachment to the gay community due to experiences of racial or sexual stigma and discrimination. ^{42, 45, 50, 104} Additional research is needed to determine whether and how neighborhood gay presence influences sexual risk behaviors among Black MSM.

Despite the evidence showing the relationship between neighborhood context and sexual risk behaviors among MSM, few studies have explored this relationship among Black MSM, nor Black MSM in the South. ^{34, 42, 45, 50, 83, 93, 100} To date, only one study has explored the relationship between neighborhood context and sexual risk behaviors among Black MSM in the South. Baseline study results revealed that Black MSM in the South were more likely to be adherent to HIV medication, but were also more likely to have paid someone for sex, and also more likely report their neighborhood as safe and having a good reputation. ³⁴ Although these preliminary findings provide some insight on Black MSM regarding neighborhood characteristics and HIV-related outcomes, additional research is needed that explores this relationship among Black MSM overall and by U.S. region.

Potential Mediators

The theoretical pathways explaining the influence of neighborhood context on sexual risk behaviors among MSM include several mediating factors, such as stressful life events or financial insecurity. ^{15, 18, 38, 41, 42} However, few studies have explored whether or how these factors explain the relationship between neighborhood context and sexual risk behaviors. ^{38, 41, 42} Also, there may be additional factors related to neighborhood context and sexual risk behaviors among Black MSM in the South that should be explored to address the HIV burden among this population.

Discrimination, for example, may explain the relationship between neighborhood context and HIV risk among Black MSM in the South. Emerging literature supports the association between discrimination and neighborhood physical disorder. For example, higher physical disorder (e.g., vandalism, litter, burglary) was associated with more frequent experiences of discrimination based on racial/ethnic or sexual orientation, which may be due to an increased police presence intended to control

disorder in neighborhoods with higher crimes, but discriminate against neighborhood residents. ⁵³ Additionally, the social composition of the neighborhood can create norms that consider individuals who do not match the racial and ethnic groups of the neighborhood as "outsiders", or same-sex relationships or gender non-confirming identities as deviant, resulting in experiences of racial discrimination, and exposure to homophobic attitudes ^{100, 105, 106} However, there have been no studies that have explored how discrimination influences the relationship between neighborhood context and sexual risk behaviors among Black MSM, especially those in living in the South.

Racial and ethnic discrimination against Black/African-Americans has been embedded in American society due to the legacy of slavery and Jim Crow laws. ¹⁰⁷⁻¹⁰⁹ Institutionalized racism and discriminatory policies, such as redlining and racial residential segregation, contribute to the development of areas with low access to basic resources, including access to education, employment, housing, or healthcare. ¹⁰⁸⁻¹¹⁰ These policies also contribute to social disorganization of neighborhoods, as lack of access to these resources can result in high rates of crime and poverty, as well as exposure to illicit drugs and drug abuse. ¹⁰⁸⁻¹¹⁰ These factors further result in the clustering of areas with high concentrations of HIV prevalence. ¹¹¹ In addition to experiences of discrimination due to structural racism, Black MSM are also exposed to discrimination due to their sexual orientation. ^{13, 112} Homophobia is also embedded in the social environment due to the commonly-held belief that homosexuality is religiously and morally wrong.^{13, 103, 112, 113} These beliefs have shaped homophobic policies and laws, as well as homophobic community norms (e.g., religious freedom laws used to deny services for same-sex couples on religious grounds; lack of constitutional protections for workplace discrimination). ^{13, 103, 112-114} For Black MSM, the intersection of having multiple social identities, including being gay, being Black, and meeting expectations of gender norms pertaining to masculinity (e.g., hypermasculinity in the forms of physical dominance, anti-femininity, and aggression), can result in concomitant experiences of stigma and discrimination based on race/ethnicity, sexual orientation, and

gender. ^{102, 112, 115, 116} Exposure to these stigmatizing and discriminatory experiences affect the mental health of Black MSM, resulting in low self-esteem, anxiety, increased stress, depression, internalized homophobia, and social isolation. ^{13, 55, 112} To cope, Black MSM may engage in maladaptive behaviors, such as drug use or condomless anal sex in order to counteract feelings of loneliness and isolation, and heighten feelings of intimacy between male sex partners. ^{13, 25, 103, 117, 118} It can also affect partner selection within the networks of Black MSM. Due to the stigmatizing attitudes of others outside of their social network, Black MSM are more likely to form sexual partnerships and engage in high sexual risk behaviors in restricted sexual networks with other Black MSM, often who are clustered within high HIV prevalence areas. ^{21-24, 26-28, 30}

Exposure to individual stressors, including incarceration or intimate partner violence, may be an intervening mechanism in the pathway between neighborhood physical characteristics and sexual risk behaviors among MSM. Such exposures can result in adverse mental health outcomes, such as depression, which can in turn lead to maladaptive coping behaviors, such as condomless sex. ¹¹⁹⁻¹²¹ Research suggests that depression is high among Black MSM due to experiences of discrimination due to race/ethnicity, sexual orientation, and gender expression. ^{2, 13, 55, 57} To cope with depression, Black MSM may use or abuse illicit drugs and alcohol, as well as engage in risky sexual behaviors (e.g., serodiscordant condomless anal sex with causal partner), often while on drugs, which can further inhibit use of condoms and increase risk of HIV and other STIS. ^{13, 122, 123, 55, 124} However, only one study has examined neighborhood-level factors on depression among MSM, and found that depression was lower among MSM residing in neighborhoods with higher gay community attachment, but higher in neighborhoods with greater economic deprivation. ¹²⁵ As depression has been cited as a factor in HIV risk among Black MSM, additional research is needed to explore how neighborhood factors influence depression among these populations.

Religiosity and spirituality may also explain the relationship between neighborhood context and sexual risk behaviors. Religion refers to the ritualistic practices that collectively connect humans to a higher power. ^{126, 127} Spirituality refers to internalized aspects of faith and belief systems. ^{126, 127} Religion and spirituality are important to the Black/African-American community. ^{80, 128} Black/African-Americans are more likely to engage in religious practices (e.g., attending church), and the Black/African-American church have traditionally provided support regarding the political and social issues affecting the community (e.g., civil rights), and is considered a place of refuge from racism and discrimination.^{80, 128} This is especially true for Black MSM, as participation in religious rituals and activities enforce strong cultural bonds within the Black/African-American church and overall Black/African-American community. ^{80, 126, 129} Black/African-Americans residing in the South, including Black MSM residing in this region, are known to have strong religious and spiritual beliefs, primarily due to residing in a region commonly known as "the Bible Belt" due to the socially conservative and evangelical Protestantism within the region ^{74, 79} However, many Black/African-American churches espouse anti-gay sentiments, including the belief that homosexuality and gender variance is a sin. ^{75, 76, 80} Some Black/African-American churches have also verbally ridiculed Black MSM because of their sexual orientation, or may operate in silence by accepting Black MSM in their religious activities as long as no outward expressions of their sexuality are displayed. ^{77, 80} These negative experiences have detrimental effects on the mental health of Black MSM. However, religious and spiritual practices may also be a protective factor on mental health, and subsequently, HIV risk behavior. For example, prayer, mediation, or expressions of faith in God may be used among Black MSM to cope with anti-gay sentiments or abuse. Additionally increased religious practices was observed as a coping mechanism among individuals residing in dilapidated neighborhoods. ^{130, 131} Additional research is needed to determine if and how religiosity and spirituality influences the relationship between neighborhood context and sexual risk among Black MSM in the South.

Resilience, defined as the ability to cope with various stressors, is another factor that may be salient in understanding neighborhood context and HIV sexual risk behaviors. ¹³² Neighborhoods with high levels of resilience, for example, could potentially prevent HIV transmission by facilitating material and emotional support to at-risk populations. ⁵² The social environment of the neighborhood can also affect individual-level resilience, as Black MSM residing in neighborhoods with hostile social climates may have lowered resilience due to homophobia and harassment from their neighbors. ^{82, 133-135}Yet, resilience may be a protective factor in HIV, as it has been associated with being less likely for engaging in HIV sexual risk behaviors (e.g., condomless anal sex), indicating potential mediation between neighborhood context and sexual risk behaviors among Black MSM. ^{68, 83}

Theoretical Framework: Modified Social Ecological Model

This dissertation project used the modified social ecological model to examine the role of neighborhood context on sexual risk behaviors among Black MSM in the South. ^{20, 41, 42} The modified social ecological model originates from the social ecological model of human development, developed by Urie Bronfenbrenner. ⁸⁵ Brofenbrenner argued that human development can be understood within the context of multiple systems, including the microsystem, which encompasses relationships closest to the individual (e.g., family, peers); the mesosystem, which encompasses relationships within structures of the microsystem (e.g., work, school, and neighborhood); the exosystem, which include structural-level factors, such as local policies, neighborhoods, and socials services; and the macrosystem, which encompasses societal, cultural, and religious attitudes, customs, and values. ⁸⁵

The social ecological model has been used to understand how these systems affect health and health behaviors. ^{20, 136, 137} Baral and colleagues modified the social ecological model to conceptualize HIV risk in vulnerable populations, including people who inject drugs and men who have sex with men. ²⁰ To understand sexual HIV transmission of MSM, the model is composed of five layers of risk—

individual, network, community, policy, and the HIV stage of the epidemic. ²⁰ Individual level of acquisition risk include individual risk behaviors that have the highest probability of exposure, such as condomless anal sex, and high numbers of male sex partners. ²⁰At the network level, the density and size of social and sexual networks shape HIV risk. ²⁰ At the community level, stigmatizing norms and values, as well as lack of access to preventative services and HIV treatment, influence HIV risk. ²⁰Policies that influence HIV risk include the criminalization of homosexuality and laws and policies that affect condom availability. ²⁰ The stage of the HIV epidemic can be understood by looking at the HIV incidence or HIV prevalence, which determines the risk of disease acquisition at the individual level. ²⁰ Thus, there is a high chance of acquiring HIV among MSM due to the high HIV incidence and prevalence among this population. ^{1, 4, 124} Due to the porous nature of the levels of risks, factors can interact within each level; as such, community norms can influence engagement of high risk behaviors within sexual networks, thereby increasing HIV risk. ²⁰

Several studies have used the modified social ecological model to examine the relationship between perceived neighborhood context and sexual risk behaviors among MSM. ^{34, 52, 138} Thus, the modified social ecological model was applied to assess whether and how perceived neighborhood context is associated with sexual risk behaviors among Black MSM in the South. The dissertation proposed that an association exists between perceived neighborhood context (e.g. social cohesion, physical disorder) and individual-level behaviors attributable to HIV acquisition (e.g., sexual risk behaviors) among Black MSM. This relationship may be explained through additional social and psychosocial factors (e.g. discrimination, depression, resilience, religiosity/spirituality).

Chapter 3: Methods

Data Source

The study used data from The Ecological Study of Sexual Behavior and HIV/STI among African American men who have sex with men in the Southeastern US (known as the MARI study). The MARI study was a population-based study designed to typify the HIV environmental 'riskscape', and identify and evaluate HIV/STI risk and protective factors among Black MSM in Jackson, MS and Atlanta, GA. ¹³⁸ Eligibility criteria included self-report of African American or Black race; male biological sex at birth; being 18 years or older; engaging in oral or anal sex with another man in the 6 months prior to study enrollment; and residence in the metropolitan statistical areas (MSA) of Jackson, MS (Copiah, Hinds, Madison, Rankin, and Simpson counties) or Atlanta, GA (Clayton, Cobb, Dekalb, Fulton, and Gwinnett counties). Participants were recruited through 1) the distribution of printed advertisements at local colleges and universities, adult bookstores, bars and clubs, as well as community-based organizations (CBOs) servicing Black MSM; 2) face-to-face recruitment from local bars and clubs frequented by Black MSM, and HIV prevention interventions, community events and other activities conducted by local CBOs; 3) social networking websites/applications ('apps'), such as Facebook and Twitter; 4) geospatial sexual networking 'apps', such as Jack'd and Grinder; and 5) word-of-mouth referrals.

The MARI study was conducted at the Open Arms Healthcare Center (Jackson, MS) or AID Atlanta Health Services Clinic (Atlanta, GA), and included a single study visit that lasted approximately 1.5 hours. Study procedures were conducted by trained research staff. After providing written informed consent, participants received several health screenings, including blood pressure and anthropometry (i.e., standing height, standing weight, body mass index, percent body fat, muscle mass, and circumferences of the chest, biceps, waist, and hip screenings); and rapid HIV testing after risk reduction counseling for participants who reported being HIV uninfected or were unaware of their HIV status.

Participants also provided whole blood for syphilis testing, using a vacutainer blood collection (venipuncture) tube, and pharyngeal and rectal swabs, and a urine specimen for gonorrhea and chlamydia testing. After the health screenings, participants completed a study questionnaire via audio computer-assisted self-interview (ACASI) technology. The questionnaire consisted of items focused on intrapersonal factors (e.g., socio-demographics, body image, personality traits, religiosity and spirituality), interpersonal factors (e.g., early life environment, social and minority stressors, social support), and community factors (e.g., residential history and neighborhood environment). At the end of the study visit, participants received their anthropometric and blood pressure measurements, and HIV test results. Participants with a reactive HIV test received confirmatory testing at a local HIV care clinic at the end of the study visit to ensure linkage to appropriate care services. STI test results were mailed to the address provided by the study participant. Participants were compensated \$35 to \$50. The study protocol was approved by the Sterling Institutional Review Board.

Relevant Study Measures

Predictors:

<u>Perceived neighborhood context:</u> Five different scales that included a total of 21 items were used to assess perceived neighborhood context. Table 1 displays the item descriptions and scales for each item.

Social cohesion was measured using 5 items, and used a 4-point Likert scale ranging from 1=strongly agree to 4= strongly disagree. As Item 3 and Item 5 are negatively termed, these items were reverse-coded so that the items have the same order of scale, and the highest response value of '4' indicates a low level of social cohesion. Neighborhood safety was assessed using 1 item (Item 6), using the same 4-point Likert scale.

Neighborhood violence was assessed using 3 items (Items 7-9) that measured the frequency with which acts of violence occurred in the last 6 months, using a 4-point Likert scale ranging from 1=often

to 4=never. Neighborhood problems were assessed with 6 items (Items 10-15). Participants assessed each neighborhood problem on a 4-point Likert scale ranging from 1= very serious to 4= not really a problem. Items 7-15 were reverse-coded so that the highest response value indicates a high level of neighborhood violence and neighborhood problems, respectively.

LGBT-friendliness was measured using 6 items (Items 16-21). There were multiple scales used for these items. One item (Item 16) measured the rank of participant's responses on whether the neighborhood was gay friendly (1=not at all gay friendly, 2=somewhat gay friendly, 3=very gay friendly). This item was reverse-coded so that this item has the same order of scale, and the highest response value indicates a low level of LGBT-friendliness. Four items (Items 17-19, and Item 21) used 3-point scale (1=yes, 2=no, 3=somewhat) to measure whether the neighborhood had a gay community and was accepting of a gay community. These items were recoded so that the same order of scale was used, in which "somewhat" was scored as a '2' instead of a '3'. One item (Item 20) asked participants to rate their agreement on "if there is a LGBT community in one's area", using a 5-point scale ranging from 1 = strongly agree to 5= strongly disagree.

Item	Survey Item	Scale	Recoded Scale	
Number				
Neighbor	Neighborhood social cohesion (5 items)			
1	This is a close knit neighborhood	1=Strongly		
		agree		
		2=Agree		
		3=Disagree		
		4=Strongly		
		disagree		
2	People are willing to help neighbors	1=Strongly		
		agree		
		2=Agree		
		3=Disagree		
		4=Strongly		
		disagree		
3	People in this neighborhood generally don't get along with	1=Strongly	1=Strongly disagree	
	each other	agree	2=Disagree	
		2=Agree	3=Agree	
		3=Disagree	4=Strongly agree	

Table 1: Item Descriptions and Scales for Perceived Neighborhood Context

		4=Strongly	
		disagree	
		-	
4	People in this neighborhood can be trusted	1=Strongly	
		agree	
		2=Agree	
		3=Disagree	
		4-Strongly	
		disagraa	
5	Decale in this aciebbe should be not shows the same suburg		1 Steen also diag and a
5	People in this neighborhood do not share the same values	1=Strongly	1=Strongly disagree
		agree	2=Disagree
		2=Agree	3=Agree
		3=Disagree	4=Strongly agree
		4=Strongly	
		disagree	
Neighbor	hood safety (1 item)		
6	This neighborhood is safe from crime	1=Strongly	
	6	agree	
		$2-\Delta \text{gree}$	
		2-Refee	
		J-Disagice	
		4=Strongry	
		disagree	
Neighbor	hood violence (3 items)		
7	Frequency of fights in this neighborhood with a weapon	1=Often	1=Never
		2=Sometimes	2=Rarely
		3=Rarely	3=Sometimes
		4=Never	4=Often
8	Frequency violent argument between neighbors	1=Often	1=Never
		2=Sometimes	2=Rarely
		3=Rarely	3=Sometimes
		4=Never	4=Often
9	Frequency of gang fights	1=Often	1=Never
-	reducine) of Sang rights	2=Sometimes	2=Rarely
		2-Bonnethnes 3-Rarely	3-Sometimes
		J=Rarcry 4-Novor	4 - Often
Noighbor	hand nuchlama (Citama)	4-140701	4=011011
Neighbor	nood problems (o items)	1 17	1 N. (
10	Excessive noise	1=very	I = Not really a problem
		serious	2 = Minor problem
		problem	3= Somewhat serious problem
		2=Somewhat	4=Very serious problem
		serious	
		problem	
		3=Minor	
		problem	
		4=Not really	
		a problem	
11	Heavy traffic or speeding cars	1=Verv	1= Not really a problem
	ficulty fulfile of specific curs	serious	2– Minor problem
		problem	3- Somewhat sorious problem
			3– Somewhat serious problem
		2=Somewnat	4=very serious problem
		serious	
		problem	
		3=Minor	
		problem	
		4=Not really	
		a problem	

12	Lack of access to adequate food and/or shopping	1=Very	1= Not really a problem
		serious	2= Minor problem
		problem	3= Somewhat serious problem
		2=Somewhat	4=Very serious problem
		serious	
		problem	
		3=Minor	
		problem	
		4=Not really	
		a problem	
13	Lack of parks or playgrounds	1=Very	1= Not really a problem
		serious	2= Minor problem
		problem	3= Somewhat serious problem
		2=Somewhat	4=Very serious problem
		serious	
		problem	
		3=Minor	
		problem	
		4=Not really	
		a problem	
14	Trash and litter	1=Very	1= Not really a problem
		serious	2= Minor problem
		problem	3= Somewhat serious problem
		2=Somewhat	4=Very serious problem
		serious	
		problem	
		3=Minor	
		problem	
		4=Not really	
		a problem	
15	No/poorly maintained sidewalks	1=Very	1= Not really a problem
		serious	2= Minor problem
		problem	3= Somewhat serious problem
		2=Somewhat	4=Very serious problem
		serious	
		problem	
		3=Minor	
		problem	
		4=Not really	
		a problem	
LGBT-fr	iendliness (6 items)		
16	Neighborhood is gay friendly	1=Not at all	1=Very gay friendly
		gay friendly	2=Somewhat gay friendly
		2=Somewhat	3=Not at all gay friendly
		gay friendly	
		3=Very gay	
		friendly	
17	There is a 'gay community' in area	1=Yes	1=Yes
		2=No	2=Somewhat
		3=Somewhat	3=No
18	People in neighborhood open and accepting to 'gay	1=Yes	1=Yes
	community'	2=No	2=Somewhat
		3=Somewhat	3=No
19	CITY OF CURRENT RESIDENCE is supportive community	1=Yes	1=Yes
	for LGBT	2=No	2=Somewhat
		3=Somewhat	3=No

20	Someone said "there's a LGBT community"	1=Strongly	
		agree	
		2-Agree	
		3=Neutral	
		4=Disagree	
		5=Strongly	
		disagree	
21	Gay community serves individual needs	1=Yes	1=Yes
		2=No	2=Somewhat
		3=Somewhat	3=No

Potential mediators:

<u>Resilience:</u> The 25-item Connor-Davidson Resilience Scale (CD-RISC) was used to assess the participant's ability to cope with adversity, or resilience. ¹³² Items in the resilience scale included "I am able to adapt to change"; "coping with stress strengthens me"; "when things look hopeless, I don't give up"; and "I have a strong sense of purpose." Participants used a 5-point scale to rate their agreement with each resilience item ranging from 0=not true at all to 4=true all the time. Each statement was coded 0-4, and summed. Total CD-RISC scores ranged from 0 to 100, with higher scores indicating greater resilience. The CD-RISC has been shown in studies to have high internal consistency, with a Cronbach's alpha of 0.97.

<u>Depression:</u> Depression was assessed using The Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale (CES-D), a 20-item scale that measures the frequency of depressive symptoms. ¹³⁹ Participants were asked to rank the frequency of occurrence of each item (e.g., I felt depressed, I felt hopeful about the future, my sleep was restless). Items were scored on a 4-point scale ranging from 0= rarely or none of the time to 3 = most or all of the item, with total scores ranging from 0 to 60. Higher scores indicate more depressive symptoms. The CES-D has been shown to have high internal consistency, with a Cronbach's alpha of 0.92. The scale has also been reported to be a reliable measure for assessing number, types, and duration of depressive symptoms across racial, gender, and age categories. ¹⁴⁰ Religiosity and spirituality: Participant's assessment of religion included items regarding organized religious activity, private prayer, and daily spiritual experiences. The Daily Spiritual Experiences Scale,

which assesses daily spiritual experiences in six domains, including feeling God's presence, feeling's God's love, and being spiritually touched by the creation, and had a Cronbach's alpha of 0.95, indicating high internal reliability. ¹⁴¹ Higher scores indicate increased involvement in religious activity and spiritual experiences.

<u>Discrimination</u>: Discrimination was assessed using 9-items that were adapted from the Multiple Discrimination Scale (Cronbach's α = 0.84)¹⁴². The 9 items assessed different discrimination events in the past year due to race/ethnicity, sexual orientation, and HIV status. Items included "In the past year, were you ignored, excluded, or avoided by people close to you because you are Black or African American? (yes or no)" and " In the past year, were you ignored, excluded, or avoided by people close to you because someone knew or suspected that you are HIV positive? (yes or no)." Scores ranged from 0-9, with higher scores representing more discrimination in the past year.

<u>Covariates</u>: Consistent with previous research ^{83, 93}, covariates include age, any drug use within the past 12 months (yes or no)), study site (e.g., Jackson, MS, or Atlanta, GA) any STIs within the past 12 months (yes or no), sexual orientation (gay/homosexual, bisexual, or straight/heterosexual/questioning/other), HIV status (HIV-negative, HIV-positive), and socioeconomic status. Socioeconomic status information included annual personal income (classified as < \$5000, \$5000 to \$15,999, and \$16,000 or higher); educational attainment (less than high school or high school diploma or higher); employment status (full-time/part-time, or unemployed), history of incarceration (yes or no), and transportation status (owning a vehicle, using public transit).

Outcomes:

<u>Sexual behaviors:</u> Fourteen self-reported sexual behaviors were assessed, including consistent condom use with main or casual sexual partners at last sex (dichotomized as 1 for using condoms the entire time

during sex, and 0 for some of the time or not at all); consistent condom use during anal sex with main or casual sexual partners in the past 12 months prior to study enrollment (dichotomized as 1 for always, and 0 for most of the time to never); number of lifetime anal male sexual partners (dichotomized as ≤ 5 and ≥ 6 or more partners based on the median distribution of responses); number of main and casual male sex partners in the past 12 months (dichotomized as 0-1 and ≥ 2 for main partners and 0-2 and ≥ 3 for casual partners, based on the mean distribution of reported partners); asked last main and casual sexual partner's HIV status prior to sex (yes or no); and, in the past 12 months, engaged in consistent condom use during vaginal sex (yes or no); exchanged sex for money (yes or no); participated in a sex party/orgy (yes or no), or used drugs or alcohol before or during sex (yes or no).

Statistical Analysis

All data were analyzed using SAS 9.4. Descriptive statistics, including frequencies and percentages for categorical variables, and means, standard deviations, medians and interquartile ranges for continuous variables, were generated for all predictors, outcomes, and covariates. Statistical significance was defined as α =0.05. The MARI dataset contained 580 observations, but all analyses were conducted for the 412 MARI participants who identified as male and reported only males as their current sex partner. There were three primary analyses conducted to determine whether and how perceived neighborhood context was associated with sexual risk behaviors among Black MSM in the South (e.g., Jackson, MS and Atlanta, GA).

In the first analysis, exploratory factor analysis was conducted for all 21 items measuring perceived neighborhood context to assess whether the three observed variables, physical disorder (e.g., safety, violence, problems), social cohesion, and LGBT-friendliness, measured the latent construct, perceived neighborhood context. Principal axis factoring was used as the extraction method, as principal axis factoring explores the common variance among items and delineates the latent factors in the data.¹⁴³

The number of factors were determined using Kaiser's criteria evaluating eigenvalues above 1, a Scree test, and a parallel analysis. A Promax oblique rotation was used, as this rotational technique produces factors that are correlated, and produces more accurate results for research involving human behaviors.¹⁴⁴ Items loading at least 0.40 were kept for the analysis. Items that cross-loaded on two or more factors were removed, and analyses were repeated until all items strongly loaded on a single factor. The factor-based scores for the domains assessing perceived neighborhood context were utilized in the subsequent regression and mediation analyses as the predictor variables.

The second set of analyses used regression models to determine if a relationship exists between perceived neighborhood context and sexual risk behaviors among Black MSM in the South. The hypothesis tested was that the domains of perceived neighborhood context will be associated with highrisk sexual behaviors among Black MSM, controlling for age, drug use, STIs, HIV status, study site, sexual orientation, and socioeconomic status. Separate bivariate logistic regressions were conducted to individually test the association between each domain assessing perceived neighborhood context as the independent variables, and each of the sexual risk behaviors as outcomes. Multivariable logistic regression was used to test the association between perceived neighborhood context and sexual risk behaviors, controlling for age, drug use, STIs, HIV status, study site, sexual orientation, and socioeconomic status. Each domain assessing perceived neighborhood context was assessed as a continuous predictor. All variables identified as a covariates (e.g., age, HIV status) were regressed on each sexual risk behavior in bivariate logistic regressions to determine if associations were statistically significant, and to ensure that variables should be controlled for in the regression analyses between perceived neighborhood context and sexual risk behaviors. Because the domains of perceived neighborhood context were scales with a wide numeric range, odds ratio were expressed as the ratio associated with a difference of 5 units on each scale rather than a 1-unit difference. Model fit was assessed using the Hosmer-Lemeshow Goodness of Fit Test.
The third set of analyses assessed whether the relationship between perceived neighborhood context and sexual risk behaviors among Black MSM in the South was mediated by discrimination, depression, religiosity/spirituality, and resilience. It was hypothesized that the domains of perceived neighborhood context will be associated with high-risk sexual behaviors among Black MSM through four mediators-discrimination, depression, religiosity/spirituality, and resilience-controlling for age, drug use, STIs, HIV status, study site, sexual orientation, and socioeconomic status. The third set of analyses builds on the results from the regression models developed in the second set of analyses exploring the relationship between perceived neighborhood context and sexual risk behaviors among Black MSM in the South. To better understand the influence of the overall latent construct of perceived neighborhood context on sexual risk behaviors, the mediation analyses focused only on the domains on perceived neighborhood context that were significantly associated with the same sexual risk behaviors identified in both the bivariate and multivariable regression models. Simple mediation models, and parallel multiple mediation models were conducted to test the relationships. Simple mediation models were used to determine how each mediator independently influences the effect of perceived neighborhood context on sexual risk behaviors. Parallel multiple mediation models were used to determine how each mediator influenced the effect of perceived neighborhood context on sexual risk behaviors, adjusting for the other mediators. The conceptual diagrams in Figure 1 and Figure 2 depict the conceptual diagrams for the simple mediation model and the parallel multiple mediation model, respectively. In these diagrams, the domains of perceived neighborhood context (X) was modeled as affecting sexual risk behaviors (Y) through one direct effect pathway $(X \rightarrow Y)$, and through four indirect pathways for each mediator $(M_1, M_2, M_3, \text{ and } M_4)$.

The SAS PROCESS Macro was utilized to test the simple mediation and parallel multiple mediation models.¹⁴⁵ Bootstrap confidence intervals for indirect effects using 5000 samples were generated, as bootstrapping overcomes the assumption of normality and yields the most accurate

results.^{146, 147} To prevent the bootstrap confidence interval from changing each time for each analysis of the mediation pathway, the same number was used as a seed ("210") for the random number generator for bootstrapping. All regression models for the mediation analysis were converted from the log odds metric to odds ratios, adjusted for age, drug use, STIs, HIV status, study site, sexual orientation, and socioeconomic status. As with the odds ratios in the bivariate and logistic regressions, the adjusted odds ratios for the mediation analyses were expressed as the ratio associated with a difference of 5 units on each scale rather than a 1-unit difference.



Figure 1: Conceptual Diagrams of Simple Mediation Models





Chapter 4: Results

Study Participants

From July 2013 to December 2014, 412 Black MSM were enrolled in the study. Table 2 displays demographic characteristics and sexual behaviors of the 412 participants. The mean age of study participants was 29.2 (SD=10.27), and more than half of study participants resided in Jackson, MS (n=252, 61.17%). Majority of study participants identified as gay/homosexual (n=339, 82.28%). Most participants attended some college (n=165, 40.05%), were employed (n=209, 50.73%), and used a personal vehicle for transportation (n=200, 48.54%). More than half of study participants reported testing HIV negative at last test (n=235, 57.04%). Marijuana use was the drug most commonly reported among study participants (n=209, 46.55%). Most reported consistent condom use with a casual partner at last sex (n=286, 69.42%), and during anal sex in the past 12 months (n=248, 60.19%). Of the 159 participants who engaged in vaginal sex in the past 12 months, 15.5% (n=64) reported consistent condom use when having vaginal sex. Most participants asked their last main partner's HIV status before sex (n=246, 59.71%) or asked their casual partner's HIV status before sex (n=222, 53.88%) Additionally, most participants reported alcohol use before or during sex (n=209, 46.55%). The mean scores for the psychosocial factors were as follows: discrimination—1.27 (SD=1.93); depression was 17.93 (SD=12.69); religiosity/spirituality-62.8 (SD=18.54); and resilience-80.5 (SD=19.05).

$NISIVI, 2015-2014 (II=412)^{*}$	
Age, mean (SD)	29.15 (10.27)
Site, n (%)	
Jackson, MS	252 (61.17%)
Atlanta, GA	160 (38.83%)
Sexual orientation, n (%)	
Gay/homosexual	339 (82.28%)
Bisexual	64 (15.53%)
Questioning/Non-identifying	7 (1.70%)
Straight/heterosexual	2 (0.49%)

Table	2: Selected	Demographic	and Socioecono	mic Characteri	stics, and Sexu	al Behaviors	among I	Black
MSM,	, 2013-2014	(n=412)*						

Income, n (%)*	
<\$5.000	147 (35.68%)
\$5.000 to \$15.999	120 (29.13%)
\$16,000 or higher	141 (34.22%)
Education, n (%)	
Less than high school	27 (6.55%)
High school diploma	131 (31.80%)
Some college	165 (40.05%)
Bachelor's Degree and higher	89 (21.60%)
Employment Status, n (%)	
Full-time/part-time	209 (50.73%)
Unemployed	203 (49.27%)
Transportation Status, n (%)*	
Personal vehicle	200 (48 54%)
Public transit	124(30.10%)
Friends/family	86 (20 87%)
Ever incarcerated n (%)*	
No.	777 (67 720/)
NO Vac	277(07.25%)
	134 (32.32%)
HIV status n (%)*	
	1.0. (40.700/)
HIV positive	108(40.78%)
HIV negative	235 (57.04%)
STIs diagnosed in past 12 months n (%)*	
Stris diagnosed in past 12 months, if (70)	42 (10 10%)
Generation	42 (10.19%) 25 (8 50%)
Chlamydia	33 (8.30%)
Genital Warts/Human papillomavirus (HPV)	7(1.70%)
Hernes	6(1.46%)
Henatitis B	4 (0 97%)
Hepatitis A	3 (0 73%)
Trichomonas	1 (0.24%)
Substance use within past 12 months, n (%) *	
Marijuana	194 (47 09%)
Powdered cocaine	30 (7.28%)
Crack cocaine	20 (4.85%)
Painkillers (e.g., morphine, codeine, oxycodone)	8 (1.94%)
Viagra	7 (1.70%)
Crystal meth	6 (1.46%)
Inhalants	4 (0.97%)
Downers (e.g., Valium, Ativan)	3 (0.73%)
Sexual behaviors, n (%)	
Consistent condom use at last sex, main partner	222 (53.88%)

Consistent condom use at last sex, casual partner	286 (69.42%)
Consistent condom use during anal sex in past 12 months, main	173 (41.99%)
nartner	
Consistent condom use during anal sex in past 12 months casual	248 (60 19%)
nartner	
> 6 lifetime anal male sex partners	281 (68.20%)
> 2 main male sex partners in past 12 months	161 (39.08%)
> 3 casual male sex partners in past 12 months	182 (44.17%)
Asked last main partner's HIV status before sex	246 (59.71%)
Asked last casual partner's HIV status before sex	222 (53.88%)
Engaged in vaginal sex in the past 12 months	159 (38.59%)
Consistent condom use during vaginal sex in past 12 months	64 (15.53)%
Exchanged sex for money in past 12 months	63 (15.29%)
Sex party or orgy in past 12 months	62 (15.05%)
Any drugs before or during sex	139 (33.74%)
Any alcohol before or during sex	195 (47.33%)
Psychosocial factors, mean (SD)	
Discrimination	1.27 (1.93)
Depression	17.93 (12.69)
Religiosity/Spirituality	62.80 (18.54)
Resilience	80.50 (19.05)

missing data observations by variable: income (n=4), transportation status (n=2), ever incarcerated (n=1), HIV status (n=9), STIs diagnosed in past year (n=6), substance use within past year (n=6).

Exploratory Factor Analysis Results

The first research question assessed whether the observed variables, physical disorder (e.g., safety, violence, problems), social cohesion, and LGBT-friendliness, held together as measures of the latent construct, perceived neighborhood context.

Among the 412 study participants, 16 observations were excluded due to missing data. However, the analytic sample size of 396 participants was still sufficient for the analyses, and with the 21-item survey, met the recommended 15:1 participants per item ratio.¹⁴⁴ The correlation matrix in Table 3 showed a correlation of items between 0.001 and 0.810. Each item correlated at 0.3 with at least one other item, indicating that most of the items were correlated with one another. The Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin (KMO) Measure of Sampling Adequacy was 0.86, above the recommended value of 0.6, indicating that a factor analysis was suitable for all 21 items.

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20	21
1	1.000																				
2	0.734**	1.000																			
3	-0.222**	-0.239**	1.000																		
4	0.512**	0.664**	-0.256**	1.000																	
5	-0.142*	-0.134*	0.503**	-0.127*	1.000																
6	0.404**	0.476**	-0.102*	0.523**	-0.117*	1.000															
7	0.025	0.053	0.266**	0.086	0.195**	0.257**	1.000														
8	0.080	0.110*	0.247**	0.160*	0.226**	0.314**	0.810**	1.000													
9	0.003	0.016	0.290**	0.042	0.165*	0.130*	0.753**	0.725**	1.000												
10	0.148*	0.188*	0.207**	0.173*	0.169*	0.267**	0.534**	0.575**	0.524**	1.000											
11	0.122*	0.187*	0.226**	0.156*	0.149*	0.253**	0.532**	0.570**	0.484**	0.718**	1.000										
12	0.055	0.121*	0.271**	0.086	0.220**	0.119*	0.452**	0.479**	0.490**	0.607**	0.595**	1.000									
13	0.168*	0.201**	0.180*	0.156*	0.150*	0.163*	0.435**	0.495**	0.494**	0.585**	0.548**	0.726**	1.000								
14	0.143*	0.243**	0.244**	0.187*	0.171*	0.248**	0.515**	0.563**	0.531**	0.638**	0.598**	0.661**	0.703**	1.000							
15	0.162*	0.188*	0.149*	0.177*	0.096	0.242**	0.464**	0.456**	0.453**	0.528**	0.556**	0.619**	0.678**	0.710**	1.000						
16	0.213**	0.230**	0.077	0.177*	0.090	0.184*	0.230**	0.195**	0.159*	0.237**	0.127*	0.196**	0.272**	0.244**	0.251**	1.000					
17	0.163*	0.153*	-0.048	0.130*	0.041	-0.010	-0.039	-0.072	0.002	-0.011	-0.055	-0.002	0.110*	-0.015	0.091	0.186*	1.000				
18	0.267*	0.276**	-0.029	0.220**	0.073	0.171*	0.093	0.090	0.070	0.090	0.015	0.059	0.178**	0.124*	0.092	0.379**	0.442**	1.000			
19	0.152*	0.142*	-0.037	0.146*	0.012	0.021	0.017	0.001	0.028	0.086	-0.002	0.030	0.122*	0.062	0.171*	0.098	0.312**	0.412**	1.000		
20	0.228**	0.270**	0.006	0.120*	0.042	0.085	-0.032	-0.049	0.011	0.002	-0.049	0.038	0.078	0.023	0.053	0.150*	0.370**	0.344**	0.289**	1.000	
21	0.152*	0.186*	0.057	0.112*	-0.006	0.066	0.119*	0.095	0.116*	0.171*	0.087	0.164*	0.220**	0.192*	0.152*	0.207**	0.211**	0.288**	0.285**	0.398**	1.000
<0.0E																					

 Table 3: Item Correlations

*p<0.05 **p<0.001

Principal axis factoring was used to determine the factor structure, as principal axis factoring explores the common variance among items and delineates the latent factors in the data.¹⁴³ Several criteria were used to determine the number of factors. Kaiser's criteria identified 3 factors with eigenvalues above 1 (see Table 4). The proportion of variance criterion recommended a 4-factor solution, as there were 4 factors that accounted for at least 5% of the common variance, and the cumulative percentage of the common variance of the 4 factors was 101.18% (see Table 4). The Scree test, shown in Figure 3, suggested a 5-factor solution, as there was a relatively large break between factors 1 and 2, a large break between factors 2 and 3, and relatively small breaks between factors 3 and 4, and factors 4 and 5. Factors 6 through 21 had relatively no breaks, possibly due to small eigenvalues. However, a parallel analysis provides the most accurate results, and the graph in Figure 4 indicates a presence of 4 underlying dimensions.¹⁴⁸ Thus, a 4-factor solution was utilized in the final model.

	Eigenvalue	Difference	Proportion (%)	Cumulative (%)
1	5.868	3.114	54.79%	54.79%
2	2.754	1.336	25.71%	80.50%
3	1.418	0.621	13.24%	93.74%
4	0.797	0.325	7.44%	101.18%

Table 4: Eigenvalues of Reduced Correlation Matrix for 4 Factors



Figure 3: Scree Test for Factor Retention

Figure 4: Parallel Analysis for Factor Retention



A Promax oblique rotation was used, as this rotational technique is appropriate when factors are correlated and not independent.¹⁴⁴ In the oblique rotated factor pattern, an item was said to have a meaningful loading on a given factor if the factor loading was 0.40 or greater for that factor, and less than 0.40 for other factors.¹⁴⁸ Table 5 provides the factor loadings and communalities on each factor in the 4-factor solution. In the 4-factor solution, each factor has at least 3 items with meaningful loadings. There were six items that loaded on Factor 1, which was subsequently grouped as neighborhood problems (e.g., lack of parks or playgrounds; trash and litter). Four items loaded on Factor 2, including

the single item measuring neighborhood safety (Item 6). As a result, Factor 2 was grouped as social cohesion and safety. Three items loaded on Factor 3, which was grouped as neighborhood violence (e.g., fights in neighborhood, violent arguments, gang fights). Five items loaded on Factor 4, which was grouped as neighborhood LGBT-friendliness. The item communalities ranged from 0.212 to 0.787, suggesting that the 4-factor solution accounted for approximately 21% to 79% of the variance for each item.

Although Item 3 and Item 5 were reverse coded because they are negatively termed, these items did not have meaningful loadings on any of the factors. When reviewing the correlations for these items with the other items loading on social cohesion (Items 1, 2, and 4; see Table 3) the inter-item correlations among Items 1, 2, and 4 are high (Items 1 and 2: r=0.734; Items 1 and 4: r=0.512, Items 2 and 4: r=0.664) but when these items correlate with 3 and 5, the correlations are lower and in the opposite direction (Items 1 and 3: r=-0.222; Items 1 and 5: r=-0.142; Items 2 and 5: r=-0.134; Items 4 and 5: r=-0.127). Additionally, the estimated internal consistency of the items within neighborhood social cohesion (Items 1--5) indicate poor reliability, as the Cronbach's alpha was 0.428 and less than the acceptable Cronbach's alpha for reliability (i.e.., $\alpha \ge 0.70$). The results for Items 3 and 5 may be due to response bias, as participant's may not have realized that the items were negatively termed, and responded to these items as if they were in the same order as Items 1, 2, and 4. As a result, Items 3 and 5 were not included in any of the domains assessing perceived neighborhood context.

Item 16 also did not have a meaningful loading on any of the 4 factors, and was not included in any of the domains assessing perceived neighborhood context. It is important to note that item 16 has a different measurement scale (i.e., 1=not at all gay friendly to 3=very gay friendly) than the other items in the survey that measure feelings regarding the gay community (e.g., for item 17—Feel that there is a gay community is measured as 1=Yes, 2=Somewhat, 3=No), and this difference in measurement scale may attribute to the lack of meaningful loadings.

Table 5: Factor Loadings and Component Communalities for Items Assessing Perceived Neighborhood

 Context

		Communalities				
	Factor 1: Neighborhood Problems	Factor 2: Social Cohesion and Safety	Factor 3: Neighborhood Violence	Factor 4: LGBT- Friendliness	Initial	Extraction
12: Lack of access to						
adequate food/shopping	0.854	-0.115	-0.031	-0.009	0.634	0.670
13: Lack of parks or	0.054	0.022	0.064	0.100	0 (72)	0.702
playgrounds	0.854	-0.032	-0.064	0.108	0.673	0.702
15: No/poorly maintained	0 704	0.026	0.042	0.026	0 621	0 620
sidewalks	0.790	0.036	-0.043	0.036	0.031	0.620
14: Trash and litter	0.789	0.038	0.074	-0.013	0.687	0.709
11: Heavy traffic or speeding		0.004	0.407	0.1.11	0 - 51 - 5	0 404
cars	0.637	0.084	0.195	-0.164	0.616	0.601
10: Excessive noise	0.620	0.066	0.220	-0.040	0.632	0.612
2: People are willing to help						
neighbors	0.098	0.784	-0.069	0.127	0.688	0.722
4: People in neighborhood						
can be trusted	0.009	0.721	0.046	0.037	0.522	0.549
1: Close knit neighborhood	0.041	0.686	-0.059	0.146	0.561	0.559
6: Neighborhood is safe from						
crime	-0.012	0.608	0.248	-0.068	0.417	0.431
5: People in this						
neighborhood do not share						
the same values	0.097	-0.388	0.239	0.193	0.313	0.218
3: People in this						
neighborhood generally don't	0.150	0.400	a a aa	0.100	0.070	0.001
get along with each other	0.170	-0.482	0.280	0.122	0.379	0.331
7: Fight in neighborhood	0.000	0.000	0.020	0.004	0 724	0 774
with weapon	0.066	-0.008	0.839	0.004	0.734	0.774
8: Frequency of violent	0.120	0.070	0 705	0.057	0 7 2 9	0 797
arguments	0.130	0.070	0.795	-0.037	0.738	0.787
9: Frequency of gang fights	0.198	-0.102	0.672	0.032	0.654	0.647
18: People in neighborhood						
open and acceptive to LGBT	0 102	0.076	0 125	0.671	0.421	0 479
community	-0.103	0.076	0.125	0.0/1	0.421	0.478
17: Feel there is a "gay	0.042	0.040	0.050	0.507	0.202	0.220
community"	-0.042	-0.040	-0.039	0.597	0.303	0.339
20: Someone said "there's a	0.047	0.021	0.041	A 580	0 3 1 0	0347
10: City is supportive	-0.047	0.021	-0.041	0.309	0.319	0.347
community for LCRT	0.030	-0.021	-0.048	0 525	0.280	0 274
21: Gay community serves	0.030	0.021	-0.0+0	0.545	0.200	0.274
individual needs	0 121	-0.022	0.004	0.470	0 253	0 252
16: Neighborhood is gay	0.121	0.022	0.004	0.770	0.200	0.252
friendly	0.101	0.088	0.148	0.334	0.254	0.212

Note: Factor loadings in boldface indicate the final significant loading of each item on the four factors.

Table 6 reports the descriptive statistics (including the mean, standard deviations, and range), the factor-based correlations, and the estimated internal consistency of the responses to each factor-based scale. Items with meaningful loadings (i.e., excluding items 3, 5, and 16) were summed for each of the 4 domains for perceived neighborhood context. Scores for neighborhood problems ranged from 6 to 24, with higher scores indicating more neighborhood problems. Total scores for social cohesion and safety ranged from 4 to 16, with higher scores indicating less cohesiveness and safety within the neighborhood. Total scores for neighborhood violence ranged from 3 to 12, with higher scores indicating more neighborhood violence. Total scores for LGBT-friendliness ranged from 5 to 17, with higher scores indicating less LGBT-friendliness within the neighborhood. Based on the average scores for neighborhood problems (mean=11.46, SD=5.25) and LGBT-friendliness (mean=9.40, SD=3.04), most participants perceived their neighborhoods to have minor problems, but lack LGBT-friendliness.

The estimates of internal consistency as measured by Cronbach's alpha are reported along the diagonal of Table 6. The coefficients range from 0.714 to 0.91, and indicate acceptable reliability. Similar results were identified in the correlations between the factor-based scales. For example, in Table 6, there was a statistically significant, and moderately strong positive correlation between neighborhood problems and neighborhood violence (r = 0.657). There were statistically significant, and weak positive correlations between social cohesion and safety, and neighborhood problems (r = 0.257), and between social cohesion and safety, and neighborhood problems (r = 0.257), and between social cohesion and safety, and neighborhood problems (r = 0.146), suggesting that participants who consider their neighborhood to lack social cohesion and safety also consider their neighborhoods to have high problems and violence. There was also a statistically significant, moderately weak positive correlation between social cohesion and safety, and LGBT-friendliness (r = 0.272), which may suggest that neighborhoods that are not closely-knit may lack a LGBT-friendly community. However, participants may consider LGBT-friendly communities to be associated with high neighborhood

problems and violence based on the positive but weak correlations between these domains (r = 0.121,

and *r* =0.035).

Domain	Mean	Range	Neighborhood	Social	Neighborhood	LGBT-
	(5D)		Problems	Conesion and Safety	v lolence	Friendliness
Neighborhood problems	11.46 (5.25)	6—24	[0.910]			
Social cohesion and safety	9.12 (2.95)	4—16	0.257**	[0.832]		
Neighborhood violence	5.69 (2.76)	3—12	0.657**	0.146*	[0.908]	
LGBT-friendliness	9.40 (3.04)	5—17	0.121*	0.272**	0.035	[0.714]

Table 6: Descriptive Statistics, Intercorrelations, and Cronbach's Alpha for Factor-Based Scales

*p<0.05 **p<0.001

Bivariate and Multivariable Regression Analysis

Table 7 shows the results of the bivariate and multivariable logistic regressions assessing the association between the domains of perceived neighborhood context and sexual risk behaviors among Black MSM in the South.

Neighborhood problems: Based on the scoring of neighborhood problems, higher scores indicate more neighborhood problems. For each 5 unit increase in neighborhood problems, the odds of Black MSM reporting consistent condom use with a casual partner at last sex decreased by 20% (OR=0.80, 95% CI=0.65, 0.97). The results were similar for those reporting consistent condom use during anal sex in the past 12 months with a casual partner (OR=0.80, 95% CI=0.66, 0.97). Black MSM reporting more neighborhood problems also had higher odds of reporting drug use before or during sex, as the odds significantly increased by 29% for each 5 unit increase in neighborhood problems (OR=1.29, 95% CI=1.06, 1.57). There were no statistically significant associations between neighborhood problems and sexual risk behaviors when adjusting for the covariates (i.e., age, drug use within the past 12 months, STIs within the past 12 months, sexual orientation, socioeconomic status, HIV status, and study site).

Social cohesion and safety: Based on the scoring of social cohesion and safety, higher scores indicate less social cohesion and safety. For each 5 unit increase in social cohesion and safety, the odds of Black MSM reporting consistent condom use during anal sex in the past 12 months with a main partner decreased by 38% (OR=0.62, 95%CI=0.44, 0.87), and by 42% for those reporting consistent condom use during anal sex in the past 12 months with a casual partner (OR=0.58, 95%CI=0.41, 0.83). These results remained statistically significant after adjusting for the covariates (consistent condom use during anal sex in past 12 months with main partner [AOR=0.64, 95%CI=0.44, 0.92]; consistent condom use during anal sex in past 12 months with casual partner [AOR=0.59, 95%CI=0.40, 0.86]). The odds of reporting consistent condom use during vaginal sex in the past 12 months significantly decreased by 47% for each 5 unit increase in social cohesion and safety (OR=0.53, 95%CI=0.31, 0.880), and the results remained statistically significant after adjusting for the covariates (AOR=0.36, 95%CI=0.18, 0.70). Additionally, Black MSM reporting low social cohesion and safety had greater odds of reporting alcohol use or drug use before or during sex (alcohol use before/during sex [OR=1.59, 95%CI=1.13, 2.25]; drug use before/during sex [OR=1.63, 95%CI=1.13, 2.35]) These results were similar in the adjusted models (alcohol use before/during sex [AOR=1.70, 95%CI=1.15, 2.49]; drug use before/during sex [AOR=2.50, 95%CI=1.45, 4.32]).

<u>Neighborhood violence</u>: Based on the scoring of neighborhood violence, higher scores indicate more neighborhood violence. For each 5 unit increase in neighborhood violence, the odds of Black MSM reporting consistent condom use with a casual partner at last sex decreased by 38% (OR=0.62, 95%CI=0.43, 0.91), and by 35% for those reporting consistent condom use during anal sex with a casual partner in the past 12 months (OR=0.65, 95%CI=0.45, 0.93). Additionally, Black MSM reporting more neighborhood violence had higher odds of exchanging sex for money in the past 12 months (OR=2.05, 95%CI=1.29, 3.24), as well as higher odds of engaging in a sex party or orgy in the past 12 months (OR=2.08, 95%CI=1.31, 3.30). There was also an 83% increase in the odds of reporting drug use before or during sex for each 5 unit increase in neighborhood violence (OR=1.83, 95%CI=1.26, 2.67). In the adjusted models, only exchanging sex for money in the past 12 months remained statistically significant. That is, for each 5 unit increase in neighborhood violence, the odds of exchanging sex for money in the past 12 months increased by 70% (AOR=1.70, 95%CI=1.01, 2.87). Neighborhood violence was not significantly associated with any of the other sexual risk behaviors assessed in the multivariable models.

LGBT-Friendliness: Based on the scoring of LGBT-friendliness, higher scores indicate less LGBT-friendliness within the neighborhood. For each 5 unit increase in LGBT-friendliness, the odds of Black MSM reporting consistent condom use at last sex with a main partner decreased by 29% (OR=0.71, 95%CI=0.51, 0.99); however, this association was not statistically significant in the multivariate model. For each 5 unit increase in LGBT-friendliness, the odds of Black MSM reporting consistent condom use during anal sex with a casual partner in the past 12 months decreased by 36% (OR=0.64, 95%CI=0.46, 0.90). Additionally, there was a 37% decrease in the odds of Black MSM asking their last causal sex partner's HIV status before sex for each 5 unit increase in LGBT-friendliness (OR=0.63, 95%CI=0.43, 0.93). Results were similar in the adjusted models (consistent condom use with anal sex in the past 12 months with a casual partner [AOR=0.58, 95%CI=0.41, 0.84]; asked last casual sex partner's HIV status [AOR=0.57, 95%CI=0.37, 0.86]).

	Neighborhood Problems		Social Cohesi	on and Safety	Neighborho	od Violence	LGBT-Friendliness		
	Unadjusted OR (95% CI)	Adjusted OR (95% CI)							
Consistent condom use at last									
sex									
with main partner	0.87 (0.72, 1.05)	0.92 (0.75, 1.13)	0.78 (0.56, 1.09)	0.82 (0.57, 1.18)	0.72 (0.51, 1.03)	0.76 (0.52, 1.13)	0.71 (0.51, 0.99)*	0.74 (0.52, 1.05)	
with casual partner	0.80 (0.65, 0.97)*	0.85 (0.68, 1.06)	0.71 (0.49, 1.03)	0.71 (0.47, 1.05)	0.62 (0.43, 0.91)*	0.66 (0.43, 1.0)	0.77 (0.54, 1.09)	0.74 (0.50, 1.08)	
Consistent condom use during anal sex in past 12 months									
with main partner	0.86 (0.71, 1.04)	0.94 (0.76, 1.15)	0.62 (0.44, 0.87)*	0.64 (0.44, 0.92)*	0.83 (0.58, 1.19)	0.93 (0.62, 1.38)	0.76 (0.55, 1.06)	0.78 (0.54, 1.11)	
with casual partner	0.80 (0.66, 0.97)*	0.92 (0.75, 1.14)	0.58 (0.41, 0.83)*	0.59 (0.40, 0.86)*	0.65 (0.45, 0.93)*	0.78 (0.52, 1.16)	0.64 (0.46, 0.90)*	0.58 (0.41, 0.84)*	
≥ 6 lifetime anal male sex partners	1.12 (0.91, 1.37)	1.03 (0.81, 1.32)	1.30 (0.90, 1.88)	1.07 (0.71, 1.61)	1.13 (0.76, 1.67)	1.03 (0.65, 1.63)	0.92 (0.65, 1.30)	1.10 (0.73, 1.65)	
\geq 2 main male sex partners in past 12 months	1.10 (0.91, 1.33)	1.01 (0.82, 1.24)	1.09 (0.77, 1.53)	1.06 (0.73, 1.53)	1.18 (0.83, 1.70)	0.99 (0.66, 1.48)	0.85 (0.61, 1.19)	0.77 (0.54, 1.11)	
\geq 3 casual male sex partners in past 12 months	1.04 (0.86, 1.26)	0.92 (0.75, 1.13)	1.06 (0.76, 1.48)	1.02 (0.71, 1.46)	1.17 (0.82, 1.68)	0.92 (0.62, 1.36)	1.18 (0.85, 1.63)	1.27 (0.90, 1.80)	
Asked last main sex partner's HIV status	1.02 (0.80, 1.30)	1.06 (0.81, 1.39)	0.99 (0.64, 1.54)	1.07 (0.66, 1.73)	0.75 (0.48, 1.17)	0.78 (0.47, 1.28)	0.76 (0.50, 1.15)	0.70 (0.45, 1.11)	
Asked last casual sex partner's HIV status	0.98 (0.79, 1.23)	0.98 (0.77, 1.25)	0.69 (0.46, 1.05)	0.65 (0.42, 1.02)	0.69 (0.45, 1.04)	0.72 (0.45, 1.14)	0.63 (0.43, 0.93)*	0.57 (0.37, 0.86)*	
Consistent condom use during vaginal sex in past 12 months	1.04 (0.79, 1.36)	1.15 (0.81, 1.62)	0.53 (0.31, 0.88)*	0.36 (0.18, 0.70)*	1.18 (0.70, 1.99)	1.45 (0.73, 2.88)	1.18 (0.73, 1.94)	1.06 (0.59, 1.90)	
Exchanged sex for money in past 12 months	1.27 (0.99, 1.62)	1.22 (0.93, 1.60)	0.82 (0.51, 1.30)	0.86 (0.52, 1.42)	2.05 (1.29, 3.24)*	1.70 (1.01, 2.87)*	0.84 (0.53, 1.32)	1.00 (0.61, 1.62)	
Sex party or orgy in past 12 months	1.23 (0.96, 1.58)	1.06 (0.81, 1.39)	0.91 (0.57, 1.45)	0.87 (0.53, 1.44)	2.08 (1.31, 3.30)*	1.55 (0.93, 2.58)	0.93 (0.59, 1.47)	1.18 (0.73, 1.91)	
Any alcohol before or during sex	1.04 (0.87, 1.26)	0.95 (0.77, 1.18)	1.59 (1.13, 2.25)*	1.70 (1.15, 2.49)*	1.21 (0.85, 1.72)	0.99 (0.65, 1.50)	1.03 (0.75, 1.43)	1.13 (0.79, 1.64)	
Any drugs before or during sex	1.29 (1.06, 1.57)*	0.98 (0.74, 1.31)	1.63 (1.13, 2.35)*	2.50 (1.45, 4.32)*	1.83 (1.26, 2.67)*	0.94 (0.55, 1.62)	0.74 (0.52, 1.05)	1.03 (0.64, 1.66)	

Table 7: Bivariate and Multivariable Logistic Regression Analysis of the Associations between Domains Assessing Perceived Neighborhood Context and Sexual Risk Behaviors among Black MSM in the South (n=412)

OR—odds ratio, CI—confidence interval ; *p<0.05;

Simple Mediation Analyses and Parallel Multiple Mediation Analyses

As aforementioned in the Methods, mediation analyses focused only on the domains on perceived neighborhood context that were significantly associated with the same sexual risk behaviors identified in both the bivariate and multivariable regression models. Based on the bivariate and multivariable regression models, social cohesion and safety, and LGBT-friendliness were significantly associated with consistent condom use during anal sex in the past 12 months (social cohesion and safety: AOR=0.59, 95%CI=0.40, 0.86; LGBT-friendliness: AOR=0.58, 95%CI=0.41, 0.84). The mediation analyses were conducted to explore whether and how the four mediators—discrimination, depression, religiosity/spirituality, and resilience—influenced these relationships.

Figure 5 and Figure 6 display the statistical diagrams for the simple mediation models and the parallel multiple mediation model of the relationship between social cohesion and safety, and consistent condom use during anal sex in the past 12 months, adjusted for the covariates. Table 8 shows the results of the mediated effects depicted in Figure 5 and Figure 6. In the simple mediation models, there were statistically significant indirect effects of social cohesion and safety on consistent condom use during anal sex in the past 12 months with a casual partner through depression and resilience. That is, for each 5 unit increase in social cohesion and safety, the odds of consistent condom use during anal sex in the past 12 months with a casual partner decreased by 13% through depression (AOR=0.87, Boot 95%CI=0.76, 0.96), and by 8% through resilience (AOR=0.92, Boot 95%CI=0.81, 0.99). In the parallel multiple mediation model, the direct effect of social cohesion and safety on consistent condom use during anal sex in the past 12 months with a casual partner remained statistically significant, adjusting for the other indirect effects (AOR=0.65, Boot 95%CI=0.44, 0.97). Additionally, depression significantly mediated this relationship when adjusting for the other mediators, based on results from the parallel mediation model (AOR=0.89, Boot 95% CI=0.77, 0.98).

Similar results were observed in the mediation models exploring the relationship between LGBT-friendliness and consistent condom use during anal sex in the past 12 months with a casual partner. Table 9 displays the results of the mediated effects, and Figure 7 and Figure 8 display the statistical diagrams for the simple mediation models and parallel mediation model of this relationship, respectively. In the simple mediation models, there were statistically significant indirect effects of LGBT-friendliness on consistent condom use during anal sex in the past 12 months with a casual partner through depression and resilience. That is, for each 5 unit increase in LGBT-friendliness, the odds of consistent condom use during anal sex in the past 12 months with a casual partner decreased by 13% through depression (AOR=0.87, Boot 95% CI=0.76, 0.95), and by 9% through resilience (AOR=0.91, Boot 95% CI=0.80, 0.98). In the parallel multiple mediation model, the odds of consistent condom use during anal sex in the past 12 months with a casual partner decreased by 32% for each 5 unit increase in LGBT-friendliness, adjusting for other indirect effects (AOR=0.68, Boot 95%CI=0.46, 1.02); however, this was not statistically significant. Yet, depression significantly mediated this relationship when adjusting for the other mediators, based on results from the parallel mediation model (AOR=0.90, Boot 95% CI=0.78, 0.98).

Table 8: Simple Mediation Effects and Parallel Multiple Mediation Effects of Psychosocial Mediators on the Relationship between Social Cohesion & Safety and Consistent Condom Use during Anal Sex in Past 12 Months with Casual Partner

Simple Mediation Models: Model Pathways	Coefficients/Effect	AOR (Boot 95%
Social cohesion & safety \rightarrow Discrimination	0.023(0.034)	
Discrimination → Condom use	-0.056 (0.056)	
Indirect Effect: Social cohesion & safety \rightarrow Discrimination \rightarrow Condom	-0.001 (0.004)	0.99(0.95, 1.02)
use	0.001 (0.004)	0.77 (0.75, 1.02)
Direct Effect: Social cohesion & safety \rightarrow Condom use	-0.103 (0.038)*	0.60 (0.41, 0.87)*
Social cohesion & safety \rightarrow Depression	0.915 (0.217)*	
Depression→Condom use	-0.031 (0.009)*	
Indirect Effect: Social cohesion & safety \rightarrow Depression \rightarrow Condom use	-0.028 (0.012)*	0.87 (0.76, 0.96)*
Direct Effect: Social cohesion & safety \rightarrow Condom use	-0.086 (0.040)*	0.65 (0.44, 0.96)*
Social cohesion & safety \rightarrow Religiosity/Spirituality	-0.650 (0.330)*	
Religiosity/Spirituality → Condom use	0.005 (0.006)	
Indirect Effect: Social cohesion & safety	-0.003 (0.005)	0.98 (0.92, 1.03)
\rightarrow Religiosity/Spirituality \rightarrow Condom use		
Direct Effect: Social cohesion & safety \rightarrow Condom use	-0.104 (0.039)*	0.59 (0.40, 0.87)*
Social cohesion & safety \rightarrow Resilience	-1.010 (0.311)*	
Resilience→Condom use	0.017 (0.006)*	
indirect Effect: Social cohesion & safety \rightarrow Resilience \rightarrow Condom use	-0.017 (0.011)*	0.92 (0.81, 0.99)*
Direct Effect: Social cohesion & safety \rightarrow Condom use	-0.089 (0.039)*	0.64 (0.44, 0.94)*
Parallel Multiple Mediation Model: Model Pathways	Coefficients/Effect	AOR (Boot 95%
Social appagion & sofaty Discrimination	$(SE)^{(1)}$	
Social cohesion & safety \rightarrow Depression	0.033 (0.033)	
Social cohesion & safety \rightarrow Religiosity/Spirituality	$-0.689(0.221)^{*}$	
Social cohesion & safety \rightarrow Resilience	-0.890(0.320)	
Discrimination → Condom use	0.010 (0.061)	
Depression \rightarrow Condom use	-0.025 (0.010)*	
$\frac{\text{Beligiosity}/\text{Spirituality}}{\text{Condom use}}$	-0.0003 (0.007)	
Resilience→Condom use	0.010 (0.007)	
Indirect Effect: Social cohesion & safety \rightarrow Discrimination \rightarrow Condom	0.0003 (0.004)	1.00 (0.96, 1.04)
use		
Indirect Effect: Social cohesion & safety \rightarrow Depression \rightarrow Condom use	-0.023 (0.013)*	0.89 (0.77, 0.98)*
Indirect Effect: Social cohesion & safety	0.0003 (0.006)	1.00 (0.94, 1.08)
\rightarrow Religiosity/Spirituality \rightarrow Condom use	、 <i>'</i>	
Indirect Effect: Social cohesion & safety \rightarrow Resilience \rightarrow Condom use	-0.009 (0.009)	0.95 (0.85. 1.02)
Direct Effect: Social cohesion & safety →Condom use	-0.085 (0.041)*	0.65 (0.44, 0.97)*

SE—Standard Error; AOR—adjusted odds ratio at 5 units change; CI—confidence interval ;Boot 95% CI—based on 5000 bootstrapped samples,

*Boot 95% CI does not include 1.00, indicating statistical significance;

^for indirect effects, SE are based on 5000 bootstrapped samples

Figure 5: Statistical Diagrams of Simple Mediation Effects of Psychosocial Mediators on the Relationship between Social Cohesion & Safety and Consistent Condom Use during Anal Sex in Past 12 Months with Casual Partner



Figure 6: Statistical Diagram of Parallel Multiple Mediation Effects of Psychosocial Mediators on the Relationship between Social Cohesion & Safety and Consistent Condom Use during Anal Sex in Past 12 Months with Casual Partner



Table 9: Simple Mediation Effects and Parallel Multiple Mediation Effects of Psychosocial Mediators on the Relationship between LGBT-Friendliness and Consistent Condom Use during Anal Sex in Past 12 Months with Casual Partner

Simple Mediation Models: Model Pathways	Coefficients/Effect (SE)^	AOR (Boot 95% CI)
LGBT-friendliness \rightarrow Discrimination	0.070 (0.033)*	
Discrimination \rightarrow Condom use	-0.047 (0.057)	
Indirect Effect: LGBT-friendliness \rightarrow Discrimination \rightarrow Condom use	-0.003 (0.005)	0.98 (0.92, 1.02)
Direct Effect: LGBT-friendliness \rightarrow Condom use	-0.105 (0.037)*	0.59 (0.41, 0.85)*
LGBT-friendliness \rightarrow Depression	0.875 (0.210)*	
Depression→Condom use	-0.031 (0.009)*	
Indirect Effect: LGBT-friendliness \rightarrow Depression \rightarrow Condom use	-0.027 (0.011)*	0.87 (0.76, 0.95)*
Direct Effect: LGBT-friendliness \rightarrow Condom use	-0.075 (0.038)*	0.69 (0.47, 1.00)
LGBT-friendliness \rightarrow Religiosity/Spirituality	-1.770 (0.313)*	
Religiosity/Spirituality \rightarrow Condom use	0.002 (0.006)	
Indirect Effect: LGBT-friendliness	-0.003 (0.012)	0.99 (0.87, 1.11)
\rightarrow Religiosity/Spirituality \rightarrow Condom use		
Direct Effect: LGBT-friendliness \rightarrow Condom use	-0.096 (0.039)*	0.62 (0.42, 0.91)*
LGBT-friendliness →Resilience	-1.083 (0.302)*	
Resilience→Condom use	0.018 (0.006)*	
Indirect Effect: LGBT-friendliness \rightarrow Resilience \rightarrow Condom use	-0.019 (0.011)*	0.91 (0.80, 0.98)*
Direct Effect (LGBT-friendliness \rightarrow Condom use)	-0.088 (0.038)*	0.64 (0.44, 0.93)*
Parallel Multiple Mediation Model: Model Pathways	Coefficients/Effect (SE)^	AOR (Boot 95% CI)
LGBT-friendliness→Discrimination	0.075 (0.034)*	
LGBT-friendliness →Depression	0.831 (0.217)*	
LGBT-friendliness \rightarrow Religiosity/Spirituality	-1.636 (0.312)*	
LGBT-friendliness \rightarrow Resilience	-0.959 (0.304)*	
Discrimination \rightarrow Condom use	0.015 (0.061)	
Depression→Condom use	-0.026 (0.010)*	
Religiosity/Spirituality \rightarrow Condom use	-0.003 (0.007)	
Resilience→Condom use	0.011 (0.007)	
Indirect Effect: LGBT-friendliness \rightarrow Discrimination \rightarrow Condom use	0.001 (0.006)	1.01 (0.95, 1.07)
Indirect Effect: LGBT-friendliness \rightarrow Depression \rightarrow Condom use	-0.021 (0.011)*	0.90 (0.78, 0.98)*
Indirect Effect: LGBT-friendliness	0.005 (0.013)	1.02 (0.90, 1.17)
\rightarrow Religiosity/Spirituality \rightarrow Condom use		
Indirect Effect: LGBT-friendliness \rightarrow Resilience \rightarrow Condom use	-0.011 (0.010)	0.95 (0.85, 1.02)
Direct Effect: LGBT-friendliness \rightarrow Condom use	-0.076 (0.040)	0.68 (0.46, 1.02)

SE—Standard Error; AOR—adjusted odds ratio at 5 units change; CI—confidence interval ;Boot 95% CI—based on 5000 bootstrapped samples,

*Boot 95% Cl does not include 1.00, indicating statistical significance; ^for indirect effects, SE are based on 5000 bootstrapped samples

Figure 7: Statistical Diagrams of Simple Mediation Effects of Psychosocial Mediators on the Relationship between LGBT-Friendliness and Consistent Condom Use during Anal Sex in Past 12 Months with Casual Partner



Figure 8: Statistical Diagram of Parallel Multiple Mediation Effects of Psychosocial Mediators on the Relationship between LGBT-Friendliness and Consistent Condom Use during Anal Sex in Past 12 Months with Casual Partner



Chapter 5: Discussion

The purpose of this dissertation was to examine the relationship between perceived neighborhood context and sexual risk behaviors among Black MSM in the South. The dissertation used data from the MARI study (full name: The Ecological Study of Sexual Behavior and HIV/STI among African American men who have sex with men in the Southeastern US) and was based on the modified social ecological model. The dissertation addressed three research questions to examine this relationship. The first research question assessed whether the observed variables, physical disorder (e.g., safety, violence, problems), social cohesion, and LGBT-friendliness, held together as measures of the latent construct, perceived neighborhood context. The second research question explored whether a relationship existed between perceived neighborhood context and sexual risk behaviors among Black MSM in the South. Lastly, the third research question assessed whether the relationship between perceived neighborhood context and sexual risk behaviors was best explained through discrimination, depression, religiosity/spirituality, and resilience.

Findings from First Research Question

Findings for the first research question were partially supported. It was hypothesized that physical disorder, social cohesion, and LGBT-friendliness were measures of the latent construct, perceived neighborhood context. A 4-factor structure for 18 out of the 21 items was evident, based on a principal axis exploratory factor analysis with a promax oblique rotation. The 4-factor structure translated to 4 distinct domains of the latent construct, perceived neighborhood context. Two of the four domains included the hypothesized variables, social cohesion and LGBT-friendliness. However, instead of identifying 1 domain indicating physical disorder, the

remaining 2 domains were neighborhood violence and neighborhood problems. Although these 2 distinct domains were not hypothesized, these variables were in alignment with the existing literature, as both problems (e.g., trash/litter, excessive noise) and violence (e.g., crime) have been used when describing neighborhood physical disorder as related to HIV risk.^{41 94} An additional finding from the exploratory factor analysis was that item assessing neighborhood safety had a meaningful loading onto the factor for social cohesion, creating the domain described as social cohesion and safety. This was consistent with existing literature on social cohesion, as neighborhood safety has been most associated with social cohesion than other neighborhood characteristics, and residents of highly social cohesive neighborhoods have been cited to have greater feelings of perceived safety.^{40 97} However, it is possible that the item for neighborhood safety may have loaded with items measuring social cohesion due to similarity in the item scales. Additional research is needed to examine whether and how neighborhood safety is associated with neighborhood social cohesion.

Although each of the 4 identified factors had at least 3 items with meaningful loadings of 0.40, there were 3 items that did not load on any factors. Two of the 3 items may not have loaded on any factors due to response bias, as they were negatively termed (e.g., "People in this neighborhood generally don't get along with each other"). Study participants may have responded to these items as if they were in the same direction as the other items. The third item assessed the presence of the gay community in their neighborhood; however, it may not have had meaningful loadings on any of the 4 factors due to its scale, which differed from the other items that loaded on the factor for LGBT-friendliness. Rewriting the negatively termed items to be positively termed, or revising the scale of all 3 items may ensure that these items meaningfully load on all factors measuring perceived neighborhood context.

Findings from Second Research Question

For the second research question, it was hypothesized that the domains of perceived neighborhood context were associated with high-risk sexual behaviors among Black MSM in the South, controlling for age, drug use, STIs, HIV status, study site, sexual orientation, and socioeconomic status. The hypothesis was partially supported in the multivariable logistic regression analyses. That is, social cohesion and safety, neighborhood violence, and LGBTfriendliness were the only domains of perceived neighborhood context to be significantly associated with sexual risk behaviors among Black MSM in the South. Although a directional hypothesis was not presented, the findings from the multivariable logistic regression analyses suggest that the presence of negative neighborhood characteristics and lack of positive social neighborhood characteristics may facilitate engagement in risky sexual behaviors. When adjusted for the covariates, low social cohesion and safety was significantly associated with lower odds of consistent condom use during anal sex in the past 12 months with both a main and casual partner, lower odds of consistent condom use during vaginal sex in the past 12 months, and greater odds of using alcohol or drugs before or during sex. Low LGBT-friendliness was also significantly associated with lower odds of consistent condom use during anal sex in the past 12 months with a casual partner, as well as lower odds of asking the last casual sex partner's HIV status prior to sex. More neighborhood violence was significantly associated with greater odds of exchanging sex for money. This was the only statistically significant association for neighborhood violence in the adjusted models. There were no statistically significant associations between neighborhood problems and any of the sexual risk behavior outcomes in the multivariable analyses. There were also no statistically significant associations in the

multivariable analyses between any of the perceived neighborhood context domains and consistent condom use at last sex with a main or casual partner, number of lifetime anal male sexual partners, number of main and casual male sex partners in the past 12 months, asking last main sex partner's HIV status before sex, or participating in a sex party or orgy in the past 12 months.

The findings are consistent with the growing literature on the effect of neighborhood context and HIV prevention and risk behaviors among Black MSM. For example, neighborhoods with increased crime and violence, and low social cohesion were associated with increase maladaptive behaviors (e.g., engaging in substance use) and decreased protective behaviors (e.g., consistent condom use) as a way of coping with the negative neighborhood environment.⁴¹ ⁴² ⁴³ ⁴⁴ Additionally, as neighborhoods with a gay community can foster support, belonging, and acceptance among Black MSM, the lack thereof can facilitate engagement in risky sex or drug behaviors as a coping mechanism to the lack of am LGBT-friendly environment. ¹⁰² ¹⁰³

However, there were certain surprising findings regarding the association between neighborhood physical characteristics and certain sexual risk behavior outcomes. For example, in the multivariable analyses, neighborhood violence was significantly associated only with outcome of exchanging sex for money in the past 12 months. As aforementioned, neighborhood problems was not significantly associated with any sexual risk behaviors in the multivariable analyses. As previous evidence suggests that neighborhood or the built environment has significant associations with risky sexual behavior, such as condomless anal sex, among Black MSM, additional research is needed to explore the associations between neighborhood problems and neighborhood violence on sexual risk behaviors among Black MSM in the South.

An additional surprising finding were the associations between social cohesion and safety on consistent condom use during anal or vaginal sex in the past 12 months. As evidence suggests an association between low social cohesion and safety, and condomless anal sex among Black MSM, these findings suggests that low social cohesion and safety in the neighborhood may be associated with lowered controls to engage in consistent condom use, regardless of the type of sex.⁴⁴ Although Black MSM who engage in penile-vaginal sex may engage in fewer sexual risk behaviors than those who only engage in anal sex, low social cohesion and safety within the neighborhood may be an additional risk factor for Black MSM in the South who engage in both anal and vaginal sex.¹⁴⁹ Additional research is needed to investigate and address the association between social cohesion and safety, and condomless anal and vaginal sex among Black MSM in the South.

Findings from Third Research Question

For the third research question, it was hypothesized that the domains of perceived neighborhood context were associated with high-risk sexual behaviors among Black MSM in the South through four mediators—discrimination, depression, religiosity/spirituality, and resilience—controlling for age, drug use, STIs, HIV status, study site, sexual orientation, and socioeconomic status. To better understand the influence of the overall latent construct of perceived neighborhood context on sexual risk behaviors, only the domains of perceived neighborhood context that were significantly associated with the same sexual risk behaviors in the multivariable logistic regression analyses were included in the simple mediation and parallel multiple mediation analyses. Based on the results of the multivariable logistic regression analyses of the multivariable logistic regression analyses.

both social cohesion and safety, and LGBT-friendliness, on consistent condom use during anal sex in the past 12 months with a casual partner. In the simple mediation analyses, depression and resilience significantly mediated both relationships. In the parallel multiple mediation analysis for social cohesion and safety and the consistent condom use outcome, the indirect effect through depression remained significant, adjusting for other mediators. There was also a statistically significant direct effect between social cohesion and safety, and the consistent condom use outcome. In the parallel multiple mediation analyses for LGBT-friendliness and the consistent condom use outcome, the indirect effect through depression also remained significant, adjusting for other mediators; however, the direct effect was not statistically significant. Neither discrimination nor religiosity/spirituality were found to significantly mediate either of the relationships.

The findings from the mediation analyses suggest depression as a significant proximal factor in influencing the effect of perceived neighborhood context on sexual risk behaviors among Black MSM in the South. These findings are supported by existing evidence on depression among Black MSM and HIV risk. Specifically, as depression is high among Black MSM due to the experiences related to the intersection of racism, sexual orientation, and gender expression, Black MSM may engage in risky sexual behavior to cope with depression symptoms and to heighten increased feelings of connectedness. ² ¹³ ¹²³ ¹²² Additionally, the findings add to the literature regarding the influence of depression on residing in neighborhoods with low cohesiveness and safety, but support the evidence related to residing in neighborhoods with low gay presence, which was associated with greater odds of depression among MSM. ^{102, 103, 125} The findings may also support the evidence on resilience, which is considered a protective factor in engaging in risky sexual behaviors among Black MSM, and resilience has been cited as being

greater among those living in hostile environments. ^{82 83 133 134} However, depression may have a greater mediating effect than resilience on the relationship between social cohesion and safety, and LGBT-friendliness, and consistent condom use during anal sex in the past 12 months with a causal partner, as only depression remained significant in the parallel multiple mediation analyses when adjusting for the other mediators. Yet, the parallel multiple mediation models did not test these relationships with only depression and resilience as mediators. Additional research to determine whether and how depression and resilience influence the relationship between neighborhood context and sexual risk behaviors among Black MSM in the South.

Limitations

There are several limitations to consider regarding these findings. Firstly, due to the cross-sectional study design, causal relationships or directionality between the variables cannot be determined. Secondly, as the study sample was obtained from Jackson, MI and Atlanta, GA, the results may not be generalizable to all Black MSM in the South. Thirdly, the exploratory factor analyses were only conducted with the current study sample. Although the study sample met the recommended 15:1 participants per survey item ratio for the neighborhood context survey, results from the exploratory factor analyses may need to be validated with a larger sample size. ⁷ Additionally, self-reported measures of neighborhood context were used instead of objective neighborhood-level data, such as crime statistics, census information on housing vacancies, or geos-spatial assessment of LGBT resources within the community. The use of self-reported measures for neighborhood context can lead to implicit bias, as participant's experiences of their neighborhood may also be shaped by their own personal characteristics or levels of socialization within the neighborhood. ⁵² However, several studies have identified self-

reported measures of neighborhood context as being associated with several health outcomes, as the use of individual-level perceptions of neighborhood context allows participants to define and characterize their overall neighborhood experiences. ^{52 49} Yet, sexual risk behaviors were also collected via self-report, introducing concern of social desirability bias. In addition, the recall period of the past 12 months for sexual risk behaviors may have introduced misclassification due to recall bias. However, the use of ACASI to administer the survey may have ensured accuracy in entering responses for each question, as well as minimized any concerns regarding privacy or providing sensitive information. ^{150, 151}

Further, the mediation analyses were conducted using the SAS PROCESS Macro for simple mediation and parallel multiple mediation analyses. Other approaches used for mediation, including serial multiple mediation analyses or inverse odds-ratio weighted estimation, may have provided additional explanation between the domains of perceived neighborhood context, sexual risk behaviors, and social and psychosocial mediators. Additionally, the mediation analyses only included the associations between the domains of perceived neighborhood context that were statistically significant with the same sexual risk behavior outcome in the multivariable logistic regressions analyses. This was done to provide a better understanding of the effect of the overall latent construct of perceived neighborhood context on sexual risk behavior among Black MSM in the South; however, there may mediating effects on the other domains of perceived neighborhood context and other sexual risk behaviors, such as neighborhood violence on exchanging sex for money. Also, by only including statistically significant multivariable logistic regression associations in the mediation analyses, I may have missed any significant mediating effects on the non-statistically significant associations between neighborhood context and sexual risk behaviors. Moreover, as depression, discrimination, religiosity/spirituality, and resilience

were included in the mediation analyses due to their associations with neighborhood context or HIV risk among MSM, there may be additional factors (e.g., social support) that could better explain the relationship between perceived neighborhood context sexual risk behavior among Black MSM in the South.

Implications and Conclusions

The study adds to the growing literature on neighborhood context and HIV risk behaviors among Black MSM. To my knowledge, this study is the first to explore social and structural factors that can be attributed the neighborhood context and HIV risk relationship among Black MSM, and especially among Black MSM in the South. As the existing literature has multiple operationalizations of neighborhood context as a driver of HIV risk among MSM, this study identifies the salient variables—that is, neighborhood problems, social cohesion and safety, neighborhood violence, and LGBT-friendliness—that are consistent measures of the latent construct of perceived neighborhood context. Yet, confirmatory factor analysis should be conducted to validate the perceived neighborhood context scale and confirm the 4-factor solution identified in the exploratory factor analysis. Although most of the variables measuring perceived neighborhood context had significant associations with sexual risk behaviors, additional analyses may be needed to further explain and understand neighborhood perceptions among Black MSM in the South. Qualitative research, including a photovoice project or focus groups, could be used to gather rich insight on the lived experiences of Southern Black MSM in their neighborhoods. These qualitative explorations could also explore the mental health and sexual behaviors of Southern Black MSM to better ascertain the relationship between perceived neighborhood context on sexual risk behaviors through depression. Also, analyses that include objective

measures of neighborhood context, such as poverty and crime statistics, with individual-level data on neighborhood context may provide a multi-level understanding of the relationship of neighborhood context on sexual risk behaviors among Black MSM in the South.

Nevertheless, the findings from the dissertation can be used to inform and develop HIV prevention interventions that address the social and structural factors that influence individual HIV risk behaviors to reduce HIV risk among Black MSM in the South. Specifically, the findings highlight the need for structural interventions to improve neighborhood infrastructure in order to increase social cohesion and safety, reduce neighborhood violence, and provide an LGBT-friendly environment. Additionally, the inclusion of mental health resources targeting depression may be instrumental in eliminating HIV among Black MSM in the South.

References

1. 29 Diagnoses of HIV Infection in the United States and Dependent Areas, 2017 (HIV Surveillance Report, 2017) (2018).

2. De Santis JP. HIV infection risk factors among male-to-female transgender persons: a review of the literature. *J Assoc Nurses AIDS Care*. Sep-Oct 2009;20(5):362-72. doi:10.1016/j.jana.2009.06.005

3. Singh S, Song R, Johnson AS, McCray E, Hall HI. HIV Incidence, Prevalence, and Undiagnosed Infections in U.S. Men Who Have Sex With Men. *Ann Intern Med.* May 15 2018;168(10):685-694. doi:10.7326/M17-2082

4. 24 Estimated HIV incidence and prevalence in the United States, 2010–2016. (HIV Surveillance Supplemental Report) (2019).

5. 31 HIV Surveillance Report, 2018 (Updated) (2020).

6. Hess KL, Hu X, Lansky A, Mermin J, Hall HI. Lifetime risk of a diagnosis of HIV infection in the United States. *Ann Epidemiol*. Apr 2017;27(4):238-243. doi:10.1016/j.annepidem.2017.02.003

7. Reif S, Safley D, McAllaster C, Wilson E, Whetten K. State of HIV in the US Deep South. *J Community Health*. Oct 2017;42(5):844-853. doi:10.1007/s10900-017-0325-8

8. Emory University, Rollins School of Public Health, AIDSVu: Diagnoses of HIV infection among men who have sex with men, Mississippi. Updated September 2, 2019. aidsvu.org

9. Emory University, Rollins School of Public Health, AIDSVu: Diagnoses of HIV infection in men who have sex with men, Georgia

10. Lieb S, Prejean J, Thompson DR, et al. HIV prevalence rates among men who have sex with men in the southern United States: population-based estimates by race/ethnicity. *AIDS Behav*. Apr 2011;15(3):596-606. doi:10.1007/s10461-010-9820-y

11. Henny KD, Jeffries WLt. Ending the HIV Epidemic in the United States Must Start with the South. *AIDS Behav*. Oct 3 2019;doi:10.1007/s10461-019-02686-3

12. Marks G, Millett GA, Bingham T, Lauby J, Murrill CS, Stueve A. Prevalence and protective value of serosorting and strategic positioning among Black and Latino men who have sex with men. *Sex Transm Dis.* May 2010;37(5):325-7. doi:10.1097/OLQ.0b013e3181c95dac

13. Maulsby C, Millett G, Lindsey K, et al. HIV among Black men who have sex with men (MSM) in the United States: a review of the literature. *AIDS Behav*. Jan 2014;18(1):10-25. doi:10.1007/s10461-013-0476-2

14. Millett GA, Peterson JL, Wolitski RJ, Stall R. Greater risk for HIV infection of black men who have sex with men: a critical literature review. *Am J Public Health*. Jun 2006;96(6):1007-19. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2005.066720

15. Millett GA, Flores SA, Peterson JL, Bakeman R. Explaining disparities in HIV infection among black and white men who have sex with men: a meta-analysis of HIV risk behaviors. *AIDS*. Oct 1 2007;21(15):2083-91. doi:10.1097/QAD.0b013e3282e9a64b

16. Mimiaga MJ, Reisner SL, Fontaine YM, et al. Walking the line: stimulant use during sex and HIV risk behavior among Black urban MSM. *Drug Alcohol Depend*. Jul 1 2010;110(1-2):30-7. doi:10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2010.01.017

17. Reisner SL, Mimiaga MJ, Bland S, et al. Problematic alcohol use and HIV risk among Black men who have sex with men in Massachusetts. *AIDS Care*. May 2010;22(5):577-87. doi:10.1080/09540120903311482

18. Millett GA, Peterson JL, Flores SA, et al. Comparisons of disparities and risks of HIV infection in black and other men who have sex with men in Canada, UK, and USA: a meta-analysis. *Lancet*. Jul 28 2012;380(9839):341-8. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60899-X

19. White D, Grey JA, Gorbach PM, Rothenberg RB, Sullivan PS, Rosenberg ES. Racial Differences in Partnership Attributes, Typologies, and Risk Behaviors Among Men Who Have Sex With Men in Atlanta, Georgia. *Arch Sex Behav*. May 2017;46(4):961-975. doi:10.1007/s10508-016-0743-1

20. Baral S, Logie CH, Grosso A, Wirtz AL, Beyrer C. Modified social ecological model: a tool to guide the assessment of the risks and risk contexts of HIV epidemics. *BMC Public Health*. May 17 2013;13:482. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-13-482

21. Berry M, Raymond HF, McFarland W. Same race and older partner selection may explain higher HIV prevalence among black men who have sex with men. *AIDS*. Nov 12 2007;21(17):2349-50. doi:10.1097/QAD.0b013e3282f12f41

22. Grey JA, Rothenberg R, Sullivan PS, Rosenberg ES. Racial differences in the accuracy of perceived partner HIV status among men who have sex with men (MSM) in Atlanta, Georgia. *J Int Assoc Provid AIDS Care*. Jan-Feb 2015;14(1):26-32. doi:10.1177/2325957414555226

23. Hernandez-Romieu AC, Sullivan PS, Rothenberg R, et al. Heterogeneity of HIV Prevalence Among the Sexual Networks of Black and White Men Who Have Sex With Men in Atlanta: Illuminating a Mechanism for Increased HIV Risk for Young Black Men Who Have Sex With Men. *Sex Transm Dis.* Sep 2015;42(9):505-12. doi:10.1097/OLQ.0000000000332

24. Kelley CF, Rosenberg ES, O'Hara BM, et al. Measuring population transmission risk for HIV: an alternative metric of exposure risk in men who have sex with men (MSM) in the US. *PLoS One*. 2012;7(12):e53284. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0053284

25. Moore S, Jones M, Smith JC, et al. Homonegativity Experienced over the Life Course by Young Black Gay, Bisexual and Other Men Who Have Sex with Men (YB-GBMSM) Living with HIV in Atlanta, Georgia. *AIDS Behav*. Oct 2019;23(Suppl 3):266-275. doi:10.1007/s10461-019-02658-7

26. Oster AM, Dorell CG, Mena LA, Thomas PE, Toledo CA, Heffelfinger JD. HIV risk among young African American men who have sex with men: a case-control study in Mississippi. *Am J Public Health*. Jan 2011;101(1):137-43. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2009.185850

27. Oster AM, Wiegand RE, Sionean C, et al. Understanding disparities in HIV infection between black and white MSM in the United States. *AIDS*. May 15 2011;25(8):1103-12. doi:10.1097/QAD.0b013e3283471efa

28. Raymond HF, McFarland W. Racial mixing and HIV risk among men who have sex with men. *AIDS Behav.* Aug 2009;13(4):630-7. doi:10.1007/s10461-009-9574-6

29. Schneider JA, Cornwell B, Ostrow D, et al. Network mixing and network influences most linked to HIV infection and risk behavior in the HIV epidemic among black men who have sex with men. *Am J Public Health*. Jan 2013;103(1):e28-36. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2012.301003

30. Tieu HV, Murrill C, Xu G, Koblin BA. Sexual partnering and HIV risk among black men who have sex with men: New York City. *J Urban Health*. Jan 2010;87(1):113-21. doi:10.1007/s11524-009-9416-x

31. Arnold M, Hsu L, Pipkin S, McFarland W, Rutherford GW. Race, place and AIDS: the role of socioeconomic context on racial disparities in treatment and survival in San Francisco. *Soc Sci Med.* Jul 2009;69(1):121-8. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2009.04.019

32. Cohen DA, Mason K, Bedimo A, Scribner R, Basolo V, Farley TA. Neighborhood physical conditions and health. *Am J Public Health*. Mar 2003;93(3):467-71. doi:10.2105/ajph.93.3.467

33. Dasgupta S, Kramer MR, Rosenberg ES, Sanchez TH, Reed L, Sullivan PS. The Effect of Commuting Patterns on HIV Care Attendance Among Men Who Have Sex With Men (MSM) in Atlanta, Georgia. *JMIR Public Health Surveill*. Jul-Dec 2015;1(2):e10. doi:10.2196/publichealth.4525

34. Duncan DT, Hickson DA, Goedel WC, et al. The Social Context of HIV Prevention and Care among Black Men Who Have Sex with Men in Three U.S. Cities: The Neighborhoods and Networks (N2) Cohort Study. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. May 30 2019;16(11)doi:10.3390/ijerph16111922

35. Ransome Y, Galea S, Pabayo R, Kawachi I, Braunstein S, Nash D. Social Capital is Associated With Late HIV Diagnosis: An Ecological Analysis. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr*. Oct 1 2016;73(2):213-21. doi:10.1097/QAI.00000000001043

36. Shacham E, Lian M, Onen NF, Donovan M, Overton ET. Are neighborhood conditions associated with HIV management? *HIV Med*. Nov 2013;14(10):624-32. doi:10.1111/hiv.12067

37. Surratt HL, Kurtz SP, Levi-Minzi MA, Chen M. Environmental Influences on HIV Medication Adherence: The Role of Neighborhood Disorder. *Am J Public Health*. Aug 2015;105(8):1660-6. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2015.302612

38. Tieu HV, Koblin BA, Latkin C, et al. Neighborhood and Network Characteristics and the HIV Care Continuum among Gay, Bisexual, and Other Men Who Have Sex with Men. *J Urban Health*. May 29 2018;doi:10.1007/s11524-018-0266-2

39. Wiewel EW, Borrell LN, Jones HE, Maroko AR, Torian LV. Neighborhood Characteristics Associated with Achievement and Maintenance of HIV Viral Suppression Among Persons Newly Diagnosed with HIV in New York City. *AIDS Behav*. Dec 2017;21(12):3557-3566. doi:10.1007/s10461-017-1700-2

40. Ransome Y, Kawachi I, Dean LT. Neighborhood Social Capital in Relation to Late HIV Diagnosis, Linkage to HIV Care, and HIV Care Engagement. *AIDS Behav*. Mar 2017;21(3):891-904. doi:10.1007/s10461-016-1581-9

41. Frye V, Latka MH, Koblin B, et al. The urban environment and sexual risk behavior among men who have sex with men. *J Urban Health*. Mar 2006;83(2):308-24. doi:10.1007/s11524-006-9033-x

42. Frye V, Nandi V, Egan JE, et al. Associations Among Neighborhood Characteristics and Sexual Risk Behavior Among Black and White MSM Living in a Major Urban Area. *AIDS Behav*. Mar 2017;21(3):870-890. doi:10.1007/s10461-016-1596-2

43. Bauermeister J, Eaton L, Stephenson R. A Multilevel Analysis of Neighborhood Socioeconomic Disadvantage and Transactional Sex with Casual Partners Among Young Men Who Have Sex with Men Living in Metro Detroit. *Behav Med.* Jul-Sep 2016;42(3):197-204. doi:10.1080/08964289.2015.1110560

44. Frye V, Wilton L, Hirshfied S, et al. "Just Because It's Out There, People Aren't Going to Use It." HIV Self-Testing Among Young, Black MSM, and Transgender Women. *AIDS Patient Care STDS*. Nov 2015;29(11):617-24. doi:10.1089/apc.2015.0100

45. Frye V, Koblin B, Chin J, et al. Neighborhood-level correlates of consistent condom use among men who have sex with men: a multi-level analysis. *AIDS Behav*. Aug 2010;14(4):974-85. doi:10.1007/s10461-008-9438-5

46. Denning P, Dinenno E. *Communities in Crisis: Is There a Generalized HIV Epidemic in Impoverished Urban Areas of the United States?* 2010.

47. Pellowski JA, Kalichman SC, Matthews KA, Adler N. A pandemic of the poor: social disadvantage and the U.S. HIV epidemic. *Am Psychol*. May-Jun 2013;68(4):197-209. doi:10.1037/a0032694

48. Rothenberg RB, Dai D, Adams MA, Heath JW. The Human Immunodeficiency Virus Endemic: Maintaining Disease Transmission in At-Risk Urban Areas. *Sex Transm Dis*. Feb 2017;44(2):71-78. doi:10.1097/OLQ.00000000000561

49. Bowleg L, Neilands TB, Tabb LP, Burkholder GJ, Malebranche DJ, Tschann JM. Neighborhood context and Black heterosexual men's sexual HIV risk behaviors. *AIDS Behav*. Nov 2014;18(11):2207-18. doi:10.1007/s10461-014-0803-2

50. Koblin BA, Egan JE, Nandi V, et al. Congruence of Home, Social and Sex Neighborhoods among Men Who Have Sex with Men, NYCM2M Study. *J Urban Health*. Jun 2017;94(3):364-374. doi:10.1007/s11524-016-0074-5

51. Koblin BA, Egan JE, Rundle A, et al. Methods to measure the impact of home, social, and sexual neighborhoods of urban gay, bisexual, and other men who have sex with men. *PLoS One*. 2013;8(10):e75878. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0075878

52. Latkin CA, German D, Vlahov D, Galea S. Neighborhoods and HIV: a social ecological approach to prevention and care. *Am Psychol*. May-Jun 2013;68(4):210-24. doi:10.1037/a0032704

53. Dale SK, Bogart LM, Galvan FH, Wagner GJ, Pantalone DW, Klein DJ. Discrimination and Hate Crimes in the Context of Neighborhood Poverty and Stressors Among HIV-Positive African-American Men Who Have Sex with Men. *J Community Health*. Jun 2016;41(3):574-83. doi:10.1007/s10900-015-0132-z

54. Adimora AA, Ramirez C, Schoenbach VJ, Cohen MS. Policies and politics that promote HIV infection in the Southern United States. *AIDS*. Jun 19 2014;28(10):1393-7. doi:10.1097/OAD.0000000000225

55. Jefferson K, Neilands TB, Sevelius J. Transgender women of color: discrimination and depression symptoms. *Ethn Inequal Health Soc Care*. 2013;6(4):121-136. doi:10.1108/EIHSC-08-2013-0013

56. Levy ME, Wilton L, Phillips G, 2nd, et al. Understanding structural barriers to accessing HIV testing and prevention services among black men who have sex with men (BMSM) in the United States. *AIDS Behav.* May 2014;18(5):972-96. doi:10.1007/s10461-014-0719-x

57. Magno L, Silva L, Veras MA, Pereira-Santos M, Dourado I. Stigma and discrimination related to gender identity and vulnerability to HIV/AIDS among transgender women: a systematic review. *Cad Saude Publica*. 2019;35(4):e00112718. Estigma e discriminacao relacionados a identidade de genero e a vulnerabilidade ao HIV/aids entre mulheres transgenero: revisao sistematica. doi:10.1590/0102-311X00112718

58. Perez-Brumer A, Nunn A, Hsiang E, et al. "We don't treat your kind": Assessing HIV health needs holistically among transgender people in Jackson, Mississippi. *PLoS One*. 2018;13(11):e0202389. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0202389

59. Poteat T, Reisner SL, Radix A. HIV epidemics among transgender women. *Curr Opin HIV AIDS*. Mar 2014;9(2):168-73. doi:10.1097/COH.0000000000000030

60. Reback CJ, Clark K, Holloway IW, Fletcher JB. Health Disparities, Risk Behaviors and Healthcare Utilization Among Transgender Women in Los Angeles County: A Comparison from 1998-1999 to 2015-2016. *AIDS Behav*. Aug 2018;22(8):2524-2533. doi:10.1007/s10461-018-2165-7

61. Baral SD, Poteat T, Stromdahl S, Wirtz AL, Guadamuz TE, Beyrer C. Worldwide burden of HIV in transgender women: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet Infect Dis.* Mar 2013;13(3):214-22. doi:10.1016/S1473-3099(12)70315-8

62. Bukowski LA, Chandler CJ, Creasy SL, Matthews DD, Friedman MR, Stall RD. Characterizing the HIV Care Continuum and Identifying Barriers and Facilitators to HIV Diagnosis and Viral Suppression Among Black Transgender Women in the United States. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr*. Dec 1 2018;79(4):413-420. doi:10.1097/QAI.00000000001831

63. Cahill S, Trieweiler S, Guidry J, et al. High Rates of Access to Health Care, Disclosure of Sexuality and Gender Identity to Providers Among House and Ball Community Members in New York City. *J Homosex*. 2018;65(5):600-614. doi:10.1080/00918369.2017.1328221

64. Clements-Nolle K, Marx R, Guzman R, Katz M. HIV prevalence, risk behaviors, health care use, and mental health status of transgender persons: implications for public health intervention. *Am J Public Health*. Jun 2001;91(6):915-21. doi:10.2105/ajph.91.6.915

65. Fletcher JB, Kisler KA, Reback CJ. Housing status and HIV risk behaviors among transgender women in Los Angeles. *Arch Sex Behav*. Nov 2014;43(8):1651-61. doi:10.1007/s10508-014-0368-1

66. Garofalo R, Deleon J, Osmer E, Doll M, Harper GW. Overlooked, misunderstood and at-risk: exploring the lives and HIV risk of ethnic minority male-to-female transgender youth. *J Adolesc Health*. Mar 2006;38(3):230-6. doi:10.1016/j.jadohealth.2005.03.023

67. Glick SN, Houston E, Peterson J, Kuo I, Magnus M. Understanding Engagement in HIV Risk and Prevention Research Among Black Young Men Who Have Sex with Men and Transgender Women in the District of Columbia. *LGBT Health*. Aug 2016;3(4):308-13. doi:10.1089/lgbt.2015.0047

68. LoSchiavo C. Transgender HIV Risk and Resilience: A Review of the Literature. presented at: Rutgers University School of Public Health

69. MacCarthy S, Poteat T, Xia Z, et al. Current research gaps: a global systematic review of HIV and sexually transmissible infections among transgender populations. *Sex Health*. Oct 2017;14(5):456-468. doi:10.1071/SH17096

70. Nuttbrock L, Hwahng S, Bockting W, et al. Lifetime risk factors for HIV/sexually transmitted infections among male-to-female transgender persons. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr*. Nov 1 2009;52(3):417-21. doi:10.1097/QAI.0b013e3181ab6ed8

71. Salazar LF, Crosby RA, Jones J, Kota K, Hill B, Masyn KE. Contextual, experiential, and behavioral risk factors associated with HIV status: a descriptive analysis of transgender women residing in Atlanta, Georgia. *Int J STD AIDS*. Oct 2017;28(11):1059-1066. doi:10.1177/0956462416686722

72. Siembida EJ, Eaton LA, Maksut JL, Driffin DD, Baldwin R. A Comparison of HIV-Related Risk Factors Between Black Transgender Women and Black Men Who Have Sex with Men. *Transgend Health.* 2016;1(1):172-180. doi:10.1089/trgh.2016.0003

73. Vaitses Fontanari AM, Zanella GI, Feijo M, Churchill S, Rodrigues Lobato MI, Costa AB. HIVrelated care for transgender people: A systematic review of studies from around the world. *Soc Sci Med.* Jun 2019;230:280-294. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2019.03.016

74. Foster PP, Cooper K, Parton JM, Meeks JO. Assessment of HIV/AIDS prevention of rural African American Baptist leaders: implications for effective partnerships for capacity building in American communities. *J Natl Med Assoc*. Apr 2011;103(4):323-31. doi:10.1016/s0027-9684(15)30313-8

75. Fullilove M, & Fullilove, R. Stigma as an obstacle to AIDS action: The case of the African-American community. *American Behavioral Scientist*. 1999;42:1117-1129.

76. Graham LF. Navigating Community Institutions: Black Transgender Women's Experiences in Schools, the Criminal Justice System, and Churches. *Sexuality Research and Social Policy*. 2014;11(4):274-287.

77. Jeffries WL, Dodge B, Sandfort TG. Religion and spirituality among bisexual Black men in the USA. *Cult Health Sex.* Jun 2008;10(5):463-77. doi:10.1080/13691050701877526

78. Kolysh S. Straight Gods, White Devils: Exploring Paths to Non-Religion in the Lives of Black LGBTQ People. *Secularism and Nonreligion*. 2017;6(2):1-13.

79. Nunn A, Jeffries WLt, Foster P, et al. Reducing the African American HIV Disease Burden in the Deep South: Addressing the Role of Faith and Spirituality. *AIDS Behav*. Oct 2019;23(Suppl 3):319-330. doi:10.1007/s10461-019-02631-4

80. Smallwood SW, Spencer SM, Ingram LA, Thrasher JF, Thompson-Robinson MV. Examining the Relationships Between Religiosity, Spirituality, Internalized Homonegativity, and Condom Use Among African American Men Who Have Sex With Men in the Deep South. *Am J Mens Health*. Mar 2017;11(2):196-207. doi:10.1177/1557988315590835

81. Brick LAD, Nugent NR, Kahana SY, et al. Interaction Effects of Neighborhood Disadvantage and Individual Social Support on Frequency of Alcohol Use in Youth Living with HIV. *Am J Community Psychol.* Jun 2018;61(3-4):276-284. doi:10.1002/ajcp.12227

82. Dulin AJ, Dale SK, Earnshaw VA, et al. Resilience and HIV: a review of the definition and study of resilience. *AIDS Care*. Aug 2018;30(sup5):S6-S17. doi:10.1080/09540121.2018.1515470

83. McNair OS, Gipson JA, Denson D, Thompson DV, Sutton MY, Hickson DA. The Associations of Resilience and HIV Risk Behaviors Among Black Gay, Bisexual, Other Men Who Have Sex with Men (MSM) in the Deep South: The MARI Study. *AIDS Behav*. May 2018;22(5):1679-1687. doi:10.1007/s10461-017-1881-8

84. Shacham E, Lopez JD, Onen NF, Overton ET. The Relationship of Social Support and Neighborhood Perceptions among Individuals with HIV. *J Int Assoc Provid AIDS Care*. Sep/Oct 2017;16(5):440-445. doi:10.1177/2325957416668033

85. Brofenbrenner U. *The Ecology of Human Development: Experiments by Nature and Design*. Harvard University Press; 1979.

86. Brofenbrenner U. Enviornments in Developmental Perspective: Theoretical and Operational Models In: Friedman SL, & Wachs, T.D., ed. *Measuring enviornment across the life span: Emerging methods and concepts* American Psychological Assocation Press; 1999:3-28.

87. Bronfenbrenner U, Ceci SJ. Nature-nurture reconceptualized in developmental perspective: a bioecological model. *Psychol Rev.* Oct 1994;101(4):568-86.

88. Browning CR, Cagney KA. Neighborhood structural disadvantage, collective efficacy, and selfrated physical health in an urban setting. *J Health Soc Behav*. Dec 2002;43(4):383-99. 89. Browning CR, Cagney KA. Moving beyond poverty: neighborhood structure, social processes, and health. *J Health Soc Behav*. Dec 2003;44(4):552-71.

90. Browning CR, Leventhal T, Brooks-Gunn J. Neighborhood context and racial differences in early adolescent sexual activity. *Demography*. Nov 2004;41(4):697-720. doi:10.1353/dem.2004.0029

91. Cohen D, Spear S, Scribner R, Kissinger P, Mason K, Wildgen J. "Broken windows" and the risk of gonorrhea. *Am J Public Health*. Feb 2000;90(2):230-6. doi:10.2105/ajph.90.2.230

92. Sampson RJ. The neighborhood context of well-being. *Perspect Biol Med.* Summer 2003;46(3 Suppl):S53-64.

93. Duncan DT, Sutton MY, Park SH, et al. Associations Between Neighborhood Problems and Sexual Behaviors Among Black Men Who Have Sex with Men in the Deep South: The MARI Study. *Arch Sex Behav.* Jan 2020;49(1):185-193. doi:10.1007/s10508-019-01619-4

94. Phillips G, 2nd, Birkett M, Kuhns L, Hatchel T, Garofalo R, Mustanski B. Neighborhood-level associations with HIV infection among young men who have sex with men in Chicago. *Arch Sex Behav*. Oct 2015;44(7):1773-86. doi:10.1007/s10508-014-0459-z

95. McNeill LH, Kreuter MW, Subramanian SV. Social environment and physical activity: a review of concepts and evidence. *Soc Sci Med*. Aug 2006;63(4):1011-22. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2006.03.012
96. Wiewel EW, Borrell LN, Maroko AR, Jones HE, Torian LV, Udeagu CC. Neighborhood social cohesion and viral suppression after HIV diagnosis. *J Health Psychol*. Dec 5 2018:1359105318810088. doi:10.1177/1359105318810088

97. De Jesus M, Puleo E, Shelton RC, Emmons KM. Associations between perceived social environment and neighborhood safety: Health implications. *Health Place*. Sep 2010;16(5):1007-13. doi:10.1016/j.healthplace.2010.06.005

98. Grover E, Grosso A, Ketende S, et al. Social cohesion, social participation and HIV testing among men who have sex with men in Swaziland. *AIDS Care*. 2016;28(6):795-804. doi:10.1080/09540121.2015.1131971

99. Cene CW, Akers AY, Lloyd SW, Albritton T, Powell Hammond W, Corbie-Smith G. Understanding social capital and HIV risk in rural African American communities. *J Gen Intern Med*. Jul 2011;26(7):737-44. doi:10.1007/s11606-011-1646-4

100. Frye V, Nandi V, Egan J, et al. Sexual orientation- and race-based discrimination and sexual HIV risk behavior among urban MSM. *AIDS Behav*. Feb 2015;19(2):257-69. doi:10.1007/s10461-014-0937-2

101. Ransome Y, Thurber KA, Swen M, Crawford ND, German D, Dean LT. Social capital and HIV/AIDS in the United States: Knowledge, gaps, and future directions. *SSM Popul Health*. Aug 2018;5:73-85. doi:10.1016/j.ssmph.2018.05.007

102. Balaji AB, Oster AM, Viall AH, Heffelfinger JD, Mena LA, Toledo CA. Role flexing: how community, religion, and family shape the experiences of young black men who have sex with men. *AIDS Patient Care STDS*. Dec 2012;26(12):730-7. doi:10.1089/apc.2012.0177

103. Jeffries WLt, Marks G, Lauby J, Murrill CS, Millett GA. Homophobia is associated with sexual behavior that increases risk of acquiring and transmitting HIV infection among black men who have sex with men. *AIDS Behav*. May 2013;17(4):1442-53. doi:10.1007/s10461-012-0189-y

104. Haile R, Rowell-Cunsolo, T.L., Parker, E.A., Padilla, M.B., Hansen, N.B. An Empirical Test of Racial/Ethnic Differences in Perceived Racism and Affiliation with the Gay Community: Implications for HIV Risk. *Journal of Social Issues*. 2014

70(2):342-359. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1111/josi.12063</u>

105. Crockett KB, Edmonds A, Johnson MO, et al. Neighborhood Racial Diversity, Socioeconomic Status, and Perceptions of HIV-Related Discrimination and Internalized HIV Stigma Among Women Living with HIV in the United States. *AIDS Patient Care STDS*. Jun 2019;33(6):270-281. doi:10.1089/apc.2019.0004

106. Frye V, Egan JE, Van Tieu H, Cerda M, Ompad D, Koblin BA. "I didn't think I could get out of the fucking park." Gay men's retrospective accounts of neighborhood space, emerging sexuality and migrations. *Soc Sci Med.* Mar 2014;104:6-14. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2013.12.002
107. Acharya A, Blackwell, M., Sen, M. . The Political Legacy of American Slavery. *The Journal of Politics*. 2016;78(3)

108. Bailey ZD, Krieger N, Agenor M, Graves J, Linos N, Bassett MT. Structural racism and health inequities in the USA: evidence and interventions. *Lancet*. Apr 8 2017;389(10077):1453-1463. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(17)30569-X

109. Williams DR, Mohammed SA. Racism and Health I: Pathways and Scientific Evidence. *Am Behav Sci.* Aug 1 2013;57(8)doi:10.1177/0002764213487340

110. Jee-Lyn Garcia J, Sharif MZ. Black Lives Matter: A Commentary on Racism and Public Health. *Am J Public Health*. Aug 2015;105(8):e27-30. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2015.302706

111. Buot ML, Docena JP, Ratemo BK, et al. Beyond race and place: distal sociological determinants of HIV disparities. *PLoS One*. 2014;9(4):e91711. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0091711

112. Arnold EA, Rebchook GM, Kegeles SM. 'Triply cursed': racism, homophobia and HIV-related stigma are barriers to regular HIV testing, treatment adherence and disclosure among young Black gay men. *Cult Health Sex.* Jun 2014;16(6):710-22. doi:10.1080/13691058.2014.905706

113. Mansergh G, Spikes P, Flores SA, et al. Internalised homophobia is differentially associated with sexual risk behaviour by race/ethnicity and HIV serostatus among substance-using men who have sex with men in the United States. *Sex Transm Infect*. Aug 2015;91(5):324-8. doi:10.1136/sextrans-2014-051827

114. Landers S. Civil Rights and Health--Beyond Same-Sex Marriage. *N Engl J Med*. Sep 17 2015;373(12):1092-3. doi:10.1056/NEJMp1508488

115. Fields E, Morgan A, Sanders RA. The Intersection of Sociocultural Factors and Health-Related Behavior in Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, and Transgender Youth: Experiences Among Young Black Gay Males as an Example. *Pediatr Clin North Am.* Dec 2016;63(6):1091-1106. doi:10.1016/j.pcl.2016.07.009
116. Fields EL, Bogart LM, Smith KC, Malebranche DJ, Ellen J, Schuster MA. "I Always Felt I Had to Prove My Manhood": Homosexuality, Masculinity, Gender Role Strain, and HIV Risk Among Young Black Men Who Have Sex With Men. *Am J Public Health.* Jan 2015;105(1):122-131.

doi:10.2105/AJPH.2013.301866

117. Bogart LM, Wagner GJ, Galvan FH, Klein DJ. Longitudinal relationships between antiretroviral treatment adherence and discrimination due to HIV-serostatus, race, and sexual orientation among African-American men with HIV. *Ann Behav Med.* Oct 2010;40(2):184-90. doi:10.1007/s12160-010-9200-x

118. Glick SN, Golden MR. Persistence of racial differences in attitudes toward homosexuality in the United States. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr*. Dec 2010;55(4):516-23.

doi:10.1097/QAI.0b013e3181f275e0

119. Latkin CA, Curry AD, Hua W, Davey MA. Direct and indirect associations of neighborhood disorder with drug use and high-risk sexual partners. *Am J Prev Med*. Jun 2007;32(6 Suppl):S234-41. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2007.02.023

120. Latkin CA, Van Tieu H, Fields S, et al. Social Network Factors as Correlates and Predictors of High Depressive Symptoms Among Black Men Who Have Sex with Men in HPTN 061. *AIDS Behav*. Apr 2017;21(4):1163-1170. doi:10.1007/s10461-016-1493-8

121. Latkin CA, Williams CT, Wang J, Curry AD. Neighborhood social disorder as a determinant of drug injection behaviors: a structural equation modeling approach. *Health Psychol.* Jan 2005;24(1):96-100. doi:10.1037/0278-6133.24.1.96

122. Graham LF, Aronson RE, Nichols T, Stephens CF, Rhodes SD. Factors Influencing Depression and Anxiety among Black Sexual Minority Men. *Depress Res Treat*. 2011;2011:587984. doi:10.1155/2011/587984

123. Reisner SL, Mimiaga MJ, Skeer M, et al. Clinically significant depressive symptoms as a risk factor for HIV infection among black MSM in Massachusetts. *AIDS Behav*. Aug 2009;13(4):798-810. doi:10.1007/s10461-009-9571-9

124. Becasen JS, Denard CL, Mullins MM, Higa DH, Sipe TA. Estimating the Prevalence of HIV and Sexual Behaviors Among the US Transgender Population: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis, 2006-2017. *Am J Public Health*. Nov 29 2018:e1-e8. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2018.304727

125. Cerda M, Nandi V, Frye V, et al. Neighborhood determinants of mood and anxiety disorders among men who have sex with men in New York City. *Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol*. Jun 2017;52(6):749-760. doi:10.1007/s00127-017-1379-8

126. Jeffries WLt, Okeke JO, Gelaude DJ, et al. An exploration of religion and spirituality among young, HIV-infected gay and bisexual men in the USA. *Cult Health Sex*. 2014;16(9):1070-83. doi:10.1080/13691058.2014.928370

127. Yip AKT. The Self as the Basis of Religious Faith: Spirituality of Gay, Lesbian, and Bisexual Christians. . In: Davie L, Woodhead, L., Heelas, P., ed. *Predicting Religion: Christian, Secular and Alternative Futures*. Ashgate; 2003:135-146.

128. Taylor RJ, Chatters LM, Brown RK. African American Religious Participation. *Rev Relig Res.* Dec 2014;56(4):513-538. doi:10.1007/s13644-013-0144-z

129. Lassiter JM, Parsons JT. Religion and Spirituality's Influences on HIV Syndemics Among MSM: A Systematic Review and Conceptual Model. *AIDS Behav*. Feb 2016;20(2):461-72. doi:10.1007/s10461-015-1173-0

130. Krause N. Neighborhood deterioration, religious coping, and changes in health during late life. *Gerontologist*. Dec 1998;38(6):653-64. doi:10.1093/geront/38.6.653

131. Krause N, Ironson G, Pargament K, Hill P. Neighborhood conditions, religious coping, and uncontrolled hypertension. *Soc Sci Res.* Feb 2017;62:161-174. doi:10.1016/j.ssresearch.2016.08.004
132. Connor KM, Davidson JR. Development of a new resilience scale: the Connor-Davidson

Resilience Scale (CD-RISC). Depress Anxiety. 2003;18(2):76-82. doi:10.1002/da.10113

133. Applewhite S, Littlefield MB. The Role of Resilience and Anti-Resilience Behaviors in the Romantic Lives of Black Same Gender Loving (sgl) Men. *J Black Sex Relatsh*. Fall 2015;2(2):1-38. doi:10.1353/bsr.2016.0005

134. Earnshaw VA, Bogart LM, Dovidio JF, Williams DR. Stigma and racial/ethnic HIV disparities: moving toward resilience. *Am Psychol*. May-Jun 2013;68(4):225-36. doi:10.1037/a0032705

135. Valentine SE, Shipherd JC. A systematic review of social stress and mental health among transgender and gender non-conforming people in the United States. *Clin Psychol Rev.* Dec 2018;66:24-38. doi:10.1016/j.cpr.2018.03.003

136. Krieger N. The ostrich, the albatross, and public health: an ecosocial perspective--or why an explicit focus on health consequences of discrimination and deprivation is vital for good science and public health practice. *Public Health Rep.* Sep-Oct 2001;116(5):419-23. doi:10.1093/phr/116.5.419

137. Poundstone KE, Strathdee SA, Celentano DD. The social epidemiology of human immunodeficiency virus/acquired immunodeficiency syndrome. *Epidemiol Rev.* 2004;26:22-35. doi:10.1093/epirev/mxh005

138. Hickson DA, Truong NL, Smith-Bankhead N, et al. Rationale, Design and Methods of the Ecological Study of Sexual Behaviors and HIV/STI among African American Men Who Have Sex with Men in the Southeastern United States (The MARI Study). *PLoS One*. 2015;10(12):e0143823. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0143823

139. Radloff L. The CES-D scale: A self-report depression scale for research in the general population. *Applied Psychological Measurement*. 1997;1(3):385-401.

140. Edwards MC, Cheavens JS, Heiy JE, Cukrowicz KC. A reexamination of the factor structure of the Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale: is a one-factor model plausible? *Psychol Assess*. Sep 2010;22(3):711-5. doi:10.1037/a0019917

141. Underwood LG, Teresi JA. The daily spiritual experience scale: development, theoretical description, reliability, exploratory factor analysis, and preliminary construct validity using health-related data. *Ann Behav Med.* Winter 2002;24(1):22-33. doi:10.1207/S15324796ABM2401_04

142. Williams DR, Yan Y, Jackson JS, Anderson NB. Racial Differences in Physical and Mental Health: Socio-economic Status, Stress and Discrimination. *J Health Psychol*. Jul 1997;2(3):335-51. doi:10.1177/135910539700200305

143. Matsunaga M. How to Factor-Analyze Your Data Right: Do's, Don'ts, and How-To's. *International Journal of Psychological Research*. 2010;3(1):98-111.

144. Williams B, Brown, T., Onsman, A. . Exploratory factor analysis: A five-step guide for novices. *Australasian Journal of Paramedicine*. 2010;8(3)

145. Hayes AF. More than one mediator: The Serial Multiple Mediator Model *Introduction to mediation, moderation, and conditional process analysis: A regression-based approach.* The Guilford Press; 2018:167-183.

146. Levy JA, Landerman LR, Davis LL. Advances in mediation analysis can facilitate nursing research. *Nurs Res.* Sep-Oct 2011;60(5):333-9. doi:10.1097/NNR.0b013e318227efca

147. Preacher KJ, Hayes AF. SPSS and SAS procedures for estimating indirect effects in simple mediation models. *Behav Res Methods Instrum Comput*. Nov 2004;36(4):717-31. doi:10.3758/bf03206553

148. O'Rourke N, Hatcher, L. . A Step-by-Step Approach to Using SAS® for Factor Analysis and Structural Equation Modeling, Second Edition. SAS Institute Inc.; 2013.

149. Crosby RA, Mena L, Geter A, Hickson D. Similarities and Differences in Sexual Risk Behaviors Between Young Black MSM Who Do and Do Not Have Sex with Females. *AIDS Behav*. Apr 2016;20(4):717-21. doi:10.1007/s10461-015-1227-3

150. Aschengrau AS, G. R. Bias *Essentials of Epidemiology in Public Health* 2nd ed. Jones and Bartlett Publishers 2008:261-286

151. Crosby R, Salzar, L.F., DiClemente, R.J. . Conducting Observational Research *Research Methods in Health Promotion* 2nd ed. Jossey-Bass; 2015:259-284.